# Food Insecurity During Pregnancy and Its Relation to Birth Weight

By Erica Catherine Van Mieghem

# A Thesis

Presented to the Department of Dietetic and Nutrition And the Oregon Health and Science University School of Medicine In partial fulfillment of The Requirements for the degree of Masters in Science in Clinical Nutrition November 19, 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
LIST OF TABLES	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	I V
LIST OF COMMON ABBREVIATIONS	V I
ABSTRACT	VIII
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
Table 1-1. Selected minerals and vitamins that play a role in fetal organ development	2
CHAPTER 2. BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	4
FOOD INSECURITY	4
Prevalence of Food Insecurity and Measure of Diet Quality	
Risks for Food Insecurity	
Poverty	8
Women with children in the household	8
Race/Ethnicity	9
IMPACT OF FOOD INSECURITY	9
Impact of Food Insecurity: The Pregnant Woman	9
Impact of Food Insecurity: The Fetus	14
BIRTH WEIGHT: AN INDICATOR OF HEALTH	1 5
FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH BIRTH WEIGHT	17
Developmental Origins of Adult Disease	17
Maternal diabetes or high blood sugars-glycemic control	19
Maternal prepregnancy weight and gestational weight gain	
Maternal mental and physical health	
Race/Ethnicity	
Socio-economic status (SES)	
Recent Findings on Parental Characteristics and Behaviors	
PURPOSE OF STUDY	
STUDY POPULATION: DEMOGRAPHICS OF CALIFORNIA	
CHAPTER 3. METHODS	
OVERVIEW OF MATERNAL INFANT HEALTH ASSESSMENT SURVEY	27
MIHA SAMPLING METHODS AND STRATIFICATION	
STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS NON-RESPONSE	
WEIGHTING PROCESS	29
OBTAINING MIHA DATA IN THE PRESENT STUDY	
MEASURING FOOD INSECURITY	
Food Insecurity measurement tools	
Guide to Measuring Household Food Security – 2000	
INCLUSION CRITERIA	
ANALYTIC OUTCOME VARIABLES	
ANALYTIC INDEPENDENT VARIABLES	
Defining flousenous r oos Security	
<i>Table 5-1.</i> Number of affirmative answers related to the food insecurity questions and defined security	iea ievel
oj joou securuy Other Independent Variables	,
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	

# **Table of Contents**

CHAPTER 4. RESULTS	
CHAPTER 5. DISCUSSION	4 5
Race/ethnicity	
Income	
Single or living with someone during pregnancy	50
Prepregnany BMI	50
Gestational age/ preterm birth	52
Smoking during pregnancy	53
Depression during pregnancy	53
Previous LBW infant	5 4
High blood pressure and high blood sugar (diabetes) during pregnancy	54
WIC enrollment during pregnancy	5 5
Parity	57
CHAPTER 6. STRENGTHS AND FUTURE DIRECTION	5 8
CHAPTER 7. LIMITATIONS	6 1
CHAPTER 8. CONCLUSION	6 5
REFERENCES	67
APPENDIX A: MIHA SURVEY QUESTIONNAIRE	84
APPENDIX B: TABLE B-1. DEMOGRAPHIC AND BEHAVIORAL CHARACTERISTICS	OF
WOMEN WITH RECENT BIRTHS COMPARED BY LEVEL OF HOUSEHOLD FOOD	
SECURITY: HFS (N=2652), MFS (N=347), LFS (N=456), AND VLFS (N=178), CALIFORNI 2005	A MIHA 114
APPENDIX B: TABLE B-2. DEMOGRAPHIC AND BEHAVIOR CHARACTERISTICS OF	7
WOMEN WITH RECENT BIRTHS COMPARED BY FOOD SECURITY STATUS: FOOD	
SECURE (N=2999), FOOD INSECURE (N=634), CALIFORNIA MIHA 2005	115
APPENDIX B: TABLE B-3. UNIVARIATE LOGISTIC REGRESSION, COMPARING OR	OF
LBW (N=232) TO HBW (N=347) BY SELECTED MATERNAL CHARACTERISTICS OF	WOMEN
WITH RECENT BIRTHS, CALIFORNIA MIHA, 2005	116

# List of Tables

<b>Table 1-1.</b> Selected minerals and vitamins that play a role in fetal organ development2
Table 3-1. Number of affirmative answers related to the food insecurity questions and
defined level of food security33
Table B-1. Demographic and behavioral characteristics of women with recent births
compared by level of household food security: HFS (n=2652), MFS (n=347), LFS
(n=456), and VLFS (n=178), California MIHA, 2005114
Table B-2. Demographic and behavioral characteristics of women with recent births
compared by food security status: Food Secure (n=2999), Food Insecure (n=634),
California MIHA, 2005115
Table B-3. Univariate logistic regression, comparing OR of LBW (n=232) to HBW
(n=347) by selected maternal characteristics of women with recent births, California
MIHA, 2005116

#### **Acknowledgments**

I would like to thank all my committee members for their interest and confidence in my passion for maternal and child health and dedication to the field of nutrition research. Without the continued support and encouragement of my mentors, this document would not have been possible.

Elizabeth Adams was my thesis advisor and has been a mentor for me in many areas of my studies. I am very thankful for everything she has done for me. She has contributed to and enhanced my education from her knowledge of the field of maternal and child health to her passion for promoting care for children with neurodevelopmental impairments. She sparked my interest in food insecurity and has continued to give me direction for my future career. Thank you, Liz, for believing in me and giving me the tools I needed in this process.

Monica Hunsberger was not only one of my committee members but has been a continued source of support and encouragement throughout my completion of this thesis. She has provided me with new insights and constant feedback. She has an amazing wealth of knowledge surrounding the area of nutrition in the area of public health. Her commitment to further research in the area of maternal and child health has inspired me; she has given me so much pride and confidence in this growing field. Thank you, Monica, I cannot describe how much you have given me in all areas of this process.

Susan Bagby, in the Division of Nephrology and Hypertension, has been an excellent source of feedback and has contributed a vast array of knowledge. Her efforts and continued encouragement to complete this thesis have been truly wonderful.

iv

I would also like to thank Melanie Gillingham for all her support through this process and for her dedication in making my thesis happen. She is truly a wonderful woman and has provided me with so much direction throughout my education.

I would also like to thank Paul Lees for all his help in the data management of this thesis. He provided an amazing amount of dedication and support throughout the whole project. Erica Lybarger has also been a wonderful source of guidance and support. She has given me a priceless gift of time, patience, and commitment.

My family and friends have given me a truly unique gift; they gave me strength and love during this whole period. I can really not express the amount of thanks I have for them. John Paul, thank you for everything . . . I mean everything! To my mom, dad, brother and friends, I want to thank you for continuing to listen and love.

# List of Common Abbreviations

CA	California
CDC	Centers For Disease Control and Prevention
CI	Confidence Interval
DHS	Department of Humans Services
HBW	High Birth Weight
HFS	High Food Security
HFSS	Household Food Security Survey
IOM	Institute of Medicine
g	grams
LBW	Low Birth Weight
LGA	Large for Gestational Age
LFS	Low Food Security
MFS	Marginal Food Security
MIHA	Maternal Infant Health Assessment
NH	non-Hispanic
OR	Odds Ratio
PedNSS	Pregnancy Nutrition Surveillance Survey
RDA	Recommended Daily Allowance
SGA	Small for Gestational Age
SES	Socio-economic Status
U.S.	United States
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture

- WIC Women Infant and Children
- VLBW Very Low Birth Weight
- VLFS Very Low Food Security

#### Abstract

Food security is defined as steady access to sufficient nutritious foods to lead an active and healthy life. Food insecurity exists whenever the availability of nutritionally adequate and safe food or the ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways is limited or uncertain. While the prevalence and impact of household food insecurity is beginning to be assessed with adults and children, the prevalence and effect on pregnancy has not been fully explored. In women, food insecurity has been associated with obesity and decreased dietary intake of key macronutrients and micronutrients. In pregnant women it has been well documented that poor nutrition and inappropriate weight gain during pregnancy affects the health of the fetus and mother. Birth weight is a major determinant of mortality, morbidity and disability in infancy and childhood. The relationship between food insecurity during pregnancy and birth weight has not been examined. The goal of this study was to determine the prevalence of food insecurity during pregnancy and to identify if food insecurity during pregnancy is an independent predictor of birthing a low birth weight (LBW) or high birth weight (HBW) infant. It was hypothesized that women who report to having experienced household food insecurity during pregnancy were more likely to give birth to an LBW or HBW infant.

Data from the 2005 California Maternal Infant Health Assessment (MIHA) survey data were first analyzed to determine the overall prevalence of food insecurity in the pregnant population, and to determine if household food insecurity during pregnancy was a predictor of giving birth to a LBW or HBW infant. Additional analysis was conducted to explore if the prevalence of food insecurity experienced by pregnant women who demonstrated characteristics predictive of LBW or HBW were significantly different than

viii

women without the predictive characteristics. Finally, maternal characteristics that were predictors of birth weight were investigated to determine if they had similar independent predictability in the study population.

Of the 3,635 women sampled from the 2005 MIHA survey the prevalence of food insecurity experienced during pregnancy showed to be higher than that of the general population. Food insecurity investigated as a binary variable did not independently predict LBW or HBW, however when food insecurity was broken down into a categorical variable, women who experienced the most severe level of food insecurity during pregnancy had a significantly higher likelihood (OR 1.75 95% CI 1.0-3.06) of birthing a LBW infant compared to women who experienced food security. This finding partially supports the hypothesis of this study. In addition many of the maternal risk factors for birthing a LBW or HBW infant were positively associated with food insecurity. Therefore, women who experience food insecurity during pregnancy may be a high-risk population for poor birth outcomes due to the numerous overlapping characteristics associated with both food insecurity and abnormal birth weight. Given the result of the present study, further investigations are warranted to determine the relationship between birth weight and food insecurity experienced during pregnancy.

ix

# Chapter 1. Introduction

Nutrition during pregnancy is regarded as an important contributor to both maternal and child health and the quality along with the quantity of the diet is crucial for optimal health.<sup>1</sup> Diverse maternal food consumption is essential for providing the appropriate ratios of carbohydrate, protein, and fat along with the vitamin and mineral requirements for the growing fetus. The availability of fetal macro and micronutrients is associated with the mother's prepregnancy nutritional and health status as well as her diet during pregnancy.<sup>1-7</sup> The position statement of the American Dietetic Association (ADA) describes guidelines for a healthy pregnancy, recommending "appropriate weight gain; consumption of a variety of foods in accordance with the Food Guide Pyramid; appropriate and timely vitamin and mineral supplementation; avoidance of alcohol, tobacco, and other harmful substances; and safe food-handling."<sup>8</sup>

The ADA advises that calorie needs during pregnancy increase on average 300 kcal/day; however, the amount of calories should be tailored to the individual based on prepregnancy body mass index (BMI), rate of weight gain, maternal age, and physiological appetite. Increased energy requirements during pregnancy are due to the increased work of the heart, increased respiration, formation of breast tissue, uterine muscle expansion, placental growth, and fetal growth.<sup>7, 10</sup>

The pregnant woman can meet maternal and fetal nutritional needs with the consumption of a well-balanced diet composed of 55% to 60% of calories coming from complex and unrefined sources of carbohydrates; roughly 25% to 30% of total calories from lean protein; and the remaining 20% of calories from fat sources.<sup>8, 9</sup> The fat calories should come mainly from essential fatty acids and polyunsaturated fatty acids (linoleic

acid and alpha linolenic acid).<sup>9, 10</sup> For example, fetal brain and retinal development require docoshexaenoic acid (DHA), a long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid found in mainly in fish oil.<sup>11</sup>

In addition to macronutrients, micronutrients are also needed. Each fetal organ has a set of minerals and vitamins that play a role in the development or function of that organ.<sup>12, 13</sup> Table 1-1 shows selected minerals and vitamins paired with the associated fetal organs. Both excesses and deficiencies of these micronutrients can affect proper development.<sup>13</sup>

Organ	Mineral	Vitamin
Liver	Fe, Se, Cu, Zn <sup>13, 14</sup>	A, B12, choline, folic acid
		16 17
Heart	Cu, Zn <sup>13, 14</sup>	A, B12, D <sup>16 17</sup>
Kidney	Fe, Zn <sup>13, 14</sup>	A <sup>16, 17</sup>
Brain	Fe, Cu, Zn, I <sup>13, 14</sup>	A, folic acid, B12, <sup>16, 17</sup> B6,
		biotin, <sup>18, 19</sup>
Lung	Cu, Zn <sup>13, 14</sup>	A <sup>16, 17</sup>
Bone	Ca, Mg <sup>15</sup>	D, <sup>16, 17</sup> E, C <sup>18 19</sup>
Pancreas		D <sup>16, 17</sup>

Table 1-1. Selected minerals and vitamins that play a role in fetal organ development

The importance of dietary intake for the pregnant woman cannot be overstated. Not only is nutrient composition crucial but the timing of adequate intake in each trimester also plays a role in the proper formation of fetal organs and tissues.<sup>8, 20</sup> The pregnant woman's body increases blood volume to supply the fetus with glucose and nutrients and increases absorption of key minerals such as iron and calcium.<sup>8, 12</sup> The mother also experiences increased insulin resistance, increased circulating blood lipids, and alterations in protein and amino acid metabolism.<sup>10</sup> However, if the mother is not consuming an adequate diet in the early stages of fetal organ development the body restricts nutrients aimed at the fetus in favor of maternal requirements and placental needs.<sup>4, 10, 20</sup>

In adults food insecurity has been associated with poor intake of nutrient-dense foods and an imbalance of micronutrients and macronutrients, along with obesity and depression. The risk for food insecurity has been shown to increase with poverty, the number of children in a household, in single women head of households, and among racial/ethnic minority groups. All of the above characteristics have also been associated with poor birth outcomes. Therefore, experiencing food insecurity during pregnancy could reduce fetal nutrition and impede proper growth; abnormal birth weight is a particularly concerning outcome.

## Chapter 2. Background and Significance

# Food Insecurity

Food security is defined as steady access to sufficient nutritious foods to allow the individual to lead an active and healthy life. Conversely, "food insecurity exists whenever the availability of nutritionally adequate and safe food or the ability to acquire acceptable foods in socially acceptable ways is limited or uncertain."<sup>21</sup>

Standardized survey modules initiated by the United States Food Security Measurement Project measure food insecurity. The measurement project was organized in response to the National Nutrition Monitoring and Related Research Act of 1990 (NNMRR). <sup>22</sup> The foundation for the survey modules was developed by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA), along with the Food and Nutrition Services (FNS), the U.S. Census Bureau's Current Population Survey (CPS), and other government agencies. The CPS Food Security Supplement<sup>23</sup> was the original product of the collaboration and was piloted in the 1995 CPS. The current tool is an 18-item "core module;" however, subsets of the 18 questions have been selected and validated for different populations.<sup>24</sup> For example, an abbreviated 6-item module was used in the present study; additional information related to the 6-item module will be discussed in the methods section of this work.

The U.S. Food Economic Research Service (ERS) and the USDA define hunger as, "The uneasy or painful sensation caused by a lack of food. The recurrent and involuntary lack of access to food . . . [which] may produce malnutrition over time."<sup>21</sup> Prior to 2006, the defined levels of food security included the experience of hunger. In 2003-06, a panel given the responsibility to review the U.S. Department of Agriculture's Measurement of Food Insecurity and Hunger carried out an assessment of the definitions for the levels of food insecurity.<sup>25</sup> Recommended revisions of the definitions were made to specify varying degrees of food insecurity and to define hunger separately. The recommendations suggested that hunger is experienced on an individual level and the physical and psychosocial consequences of hunger can be experienced as a result of food insecurity. The distinction was made that food insecurity is experienced on a household level and measured by household, as opposed to hunger, which can be an individual experience. The panel concluded that there should be a separate tool to measure hunger; such a tool has not been developed but is under investigation.

The 2006 defined levels of food insecurity do not include hunger in the classification. The previous definitions "food insecurity without hunger" and "food insecurity with hunger" have been replaced with "low food security" and "very low food security," respectively. The following definitions are referenced from the m ERS/USDA report on Food Insecurity in the United States.<sup>26</sup> Classifications of food security status in a household range from high food security to very low food security. The four levels are:

- "High food security (HFS)—Households had no problems, or anxiety about, consistently accessing adequate food."<sup>22</sup>
- "Marginal food security (MFS)—Households had problems at times, or anxiety about, accessing adequate food, but the quality, variety, and quantity of their food intake were not substantially reduced."<sup>22</sup>
- "Low food security (LFS)—Households reduced the quality, variety, and desirability of their diets, but the quantity of food intake and normal eating patterns were not substantially disrupted."<sup>22</sup>

4. "Very low food security (VLFS)—At times during the year, eating patterns of one or more household members were disrupted and food intake reduced because the household lacked money and other resources for food."<sup>22</sup>

The ERS report clarifies that when reporting food insecurity, the USDA describes households with HFS or MFS as food secure and those with LFS or VLFS as food insecure. The specific identification of the level of food security is based on the household's responses to questions on the food insecurity modules related to food availability and behaviors associated with food intake and food resources.<sup>22, 24</sup> Each question refers to the last 12 months and defines a lack of resources as the explanation for the behavior or experience of food insecurity. For example, a response of "we couldn't afford more food," or "there was not enough money for food" suggests that food insecurity resulted from a deficiency in financial or other resources associated with acquiring enough food. The range of severity experienced by the food-insecure household is identified through the content of each question. The questions are ordered so that the first question indicates the least severe level of food security and the last question indicates the most severe level of food insecurity (Appendix A: MIHA Survey, questions 64-66).

Households that report two or more affirmatives on the 6-item module are classified as "food insecure." Households are classified as having "very low food security" if they report 5 or more affirmatives on the 6-item module.<sup>22, 24</sup> The specifications and details of how food security was measured in the present study will be discussed in the methods section. The difference in reporting of the households with low food security and that of very low food security is defined by access to food and food

intake. Low food security in the household does not necessarily indicate reduced food intake, but an actual problem of food availability, whereas households with very low food security may experience inadequate food intake and disordered eating problems as a result of a lack of resources for food.<sup>22</sup>

# Prevalence of Food Insecurity and Measure of Diet Quality

The U.S. Food Assistance and Nutrition Research Report revealed that 11% of all households experienced food insecurity in 2005. The prevalence of VLFS in U.S. households has remained steady at 3.9% since 2003.<sup>22</sup> Food insecurity encompasses households that are either experiencing LFS or VLFS.

According to the 2005 Economic and Research Report, "two thirds of foodinsecure households avoided substantial reductions or disruptions in food intake, in many cases by relying on a few basic foods and reducing variety in their diets,"<sup>22</sup> therefore possibly decreasing the quality and nutrient density of their diet. The 2005 Dietary Guidelines for Americans defines foods as having high nutrient density if they contain "substantial amounts of key nutrients in relation to the dietary energy they provide."<sup>27</sup> The "energy density of foods and beverages is defined as the available energy per unit weight (kJ/g)."<sup>28</sup> Hence, a food could be energy dense but not nutrient dense and visaversa.

The interpretation of the food insecurity scale does not measure the nutrient density of the diet. However, according to the report *Household Food Security in the United States, 2005,* it can be inferred that households that have lower food security have nutritionally less adequate diets than households that have higher food security.<sup>22</sup>

#### **Risks for Food Insecurity**

#### Poverty

Poverty is a risk factor for experiencing food insecurity. Among the 12.6 million U.S. households who experienced food insecurity at some time during the year 2005, 36% were below the federal poverty line.<sup>29</sup> In 2002 (the most recent report), women aged 18 years and older made up 61% of the population below the federal poverty line and women ages 18 to 24 had the highest rate of poverty.<sup>30</sup> In 2005, the U.S. Census Bureau revealed that households headed by single females are more likely to live in poverty than households headed by single males—28.7% vs. 13%, respectively.<sup>29</sup> Women who experience poverty may be at a greater risk for food insecurity, hunger, and the negative consequences associated with inadequate food supply and overall health. In addition, because women of childbearing age (18-24 years of age) have the highest rates of poverty, they could be particularly vulnerable to experiencing food insecurity during pregnancy.

## Women with children in the household

Mothers who have children living in the household are more likely to experience food insecurity than mothers without children living in the household. Additionally, the risk for household food insecurity has been shown to increase as the number of children in a household increases.<sup>29, 31</sup> Overall, 30.8% of households with children under age 18 with a single female head of household experienced food insecurity in 2005, compared to a household with a male head, where food insecurity was 17.9%. The 2005 data also

revealed that 8.7% of single women with children have reported VLFS compared to 5.5% of single men with children.<sup>22</sup>

## Race/Ethnicity

Among women 18-24 years of age, 21.4% of non-Hispanic (NH) African American women and 20.1% of Hispanic women experienced poverty in 2002 (the most recent year reported).<sup>30</sup> Additionally, the risk of experiencing food insecurity is associated with racial/ethnic minority group membership. In 2005 household food insecurity rates of NH European American, NH African American, and Hispanics were 8.2%, 22.4% and 17.9% respectively.<sup>22</sup> Among single women with children VLFS was experienced by 8.6% of NH African American households and in 5.3% of Hispanic households in 2005.<sup>22</sup>

#### **Impact of Food Insecurity**

# Impact of Food Insecurity: The Pregnant Woman

Although the impact of food insecurity is beginning to be assessed among women and the general population, its prevalence and effect on pregnancy has not been fully explored. Laraia et al. explains in a recent study that little is known about the "predictors and correlations of food insecurity within the pregnant population, because nutrient demands are different during pregnancy with suggested increased intakes of most vitamins and minerals."<sup>32</sup> To meet the desired gestational weight gain, dietary suggestions include nutrient-dense foods that are often expensive.<sup>27, 32, 33</sup> In order to account for the increased energy needs of the mother, the household may experience more financial restriction in their food budget,<sup>32</sup> possibly decreasing the quality of the diet and availability of balanced meals. Laraia et al. studied the prevalence and predictors of food insecurity among pregnant women in medium to low-income households. The researchers found that psychosocial factors, along with socioeconomic and demographic indicators were associated with food insecurity.<sup>32</sup> To date, this is the only study that has looked at the predictors of food insecurity within the pregnant population.

The additional studies discussed below were done on populations that did not exclusively focus on food insecure pregnant women. However, the findings give evidence for the dietary deficiencies, health conditions, and behaviors that exist when food insecurity and or poverty is experienced.

Fruit and vegetable intake is decreased in the diets of women with food insecurity;<sup>31</sup> furthermore, micronutrient intake among women of childbearing age is decreased when food insecurity is experienced.<sup>34</sup> Food insecurity is significantly associated with low intakes of energy, vitamin E, B-6 (pyridoxine), B-1 (thiamin), B-3 (niacin), vitamin C, vitamin A, B-9 (folic acid), iron and magnesium.<sup>34-36</sup> Dixon et al. observed from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey that calcium intake among food insecure adults 20 to 59 years of age was significantly lower than the RDA.<sup>36</sup> Associations have also been found between maternal food insecurity and a deprivation of a variety of foods, along with consistently reduced intake of food.<sup>37, 38</sup>

In a recent study, George and colleagues discussed findings related to adverse maternal lifestyle/dietary alterations experienced by low-income women. Such disparities included restricted time, role challenges, taste changes; decreased intakes of folate, zinc, and B-12; modifications in dieting attitudes, habits, and weight variations.<sup>39</sup> George et al.

identified that limited food choices available to pregnant, low-income, women may affect the overall quality and variation of their diet.<sup>39</sup> In addition, low-income mothers have been shown to compromise their own nutritional intake in order to preserve the adequacy of their children's diets.<sup>40</sup>

There are federal programs that address the need for additional nutrition during pregnancy that are aimed at assisting low-income women. The most notable example is the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children (WIC), which has existed since 1974 and is administered at the federal level by the Food and Nutrition Service of the USDA. The following population qualifies for WIC resources: women who are pregnant or postpartum, infants, and children up to age 5 with a household income at or below 185% of the U.S. Poverty Income Guidelines who meet state residency requirements and are determined to be at "nutrition risk". Individuals who participate, or have family members who participate, in the Food Stamp Program, Medicaid, or Temporary Assistance for Needy Families automatically meet the income requirement for WIC assistance.

However, WIC is not an entitlement program and only receives a specific amount of funding authorized by Congress each year. Since funding is finite not all women who are eligible receive WIC assistance. For example, a pregnant woman who is not receiving WIC due to limited government funds, but is eligible for the food stamp program, defined as having an income of less than 130% of the federal poverty level, does not obtain additional resources until after her child is born.<sup>22</sup> The WIC eligibility guidelines state that priority for WIC is given to those within the WIC target population who are considered to be "nutritionally at risk." At "nutrition risk" is determined by a healthcare

professional and includes two types of risk: 1) medically based risks such as anemia, underweight, overweight, history of pregnancy complications or poor pregnancy outcomes; and 2) dietary risks such as failure to meet the dietary guidelines or inappropriate nutrition practices. According to the 2006 United States Centers for Disease Control's (CDC) Pregnancy Nutrition Surveillance Survey (PedNSS: measures and identifies health indicators of nutritional status for high-risk children at the national, state, and local levels), 31.3% of the nation's high-risk pregnant population were enrolled in WIC during their first trimester, 35.0% in the second trimester, and 18.1% in the third trimester.<sup>41</sup> The statistics reveal that a large percent of high-risk, eligible women are not receiving WIC benefits. Therefore, despite the increased nutrient needs of the mother she is not always in a position to obtain supplementary nutrition due to restraints on resources (government and household) and on eligibility for assistance.

In addition to compromised diet quality, food insecurity has been linked with other adverse health outcomes, along with poor control of chronic disease states such as diabetes.<sup>42-44</sup> Self-perceived overall health status was reported as fair or poor in a number of studies looking at food insecurity in adult populations.<sup>44-47</sup>

In the low-income female population, food insecurity is associated with weight management issues.<sup>48</sup> Overweight and obesity are significantly higher for women in food-insecure households compared to women in food-secure households.<sup>31, 35, 36, 49-51</sup> The prevalence of overweight increases with increasing severity of food insecurity.<sup>31</sup> This seems to be explained by a binge-like eating pattern, and the replacement of nutrient-dense foods with high caloric choices.<sup>33, 48, 52, 53</sup> Further, a lack of physical activity and

numerous lifestyle exercise barriers have been reported by food insecure women,<sup>48</sup> which could also contribute to difficulty with weight management.

Food insecurity has also been associated with poor mental health and psychosocial factors in women,<sup>47, 54, 55</sup> which may place them at risk for job instability, poor coping skills, and further inability to acquire enough nutrient-dense foods.<sup>55</sup> As stated earlier, one study has found a significant association between food insecurity experienced among pregnant women and psychosocial factors and socioeconomic indicators.<sup>32</sup> Provided that food insecurity is associated with low socioeconomic status (SES), behaviors reported by individuals classified as experiencing low SES may also be reported in populations experiencing food insecurity. For example, smoking, illicit drug use, alcohol use, and other addictions have been associated with poverty and low SES.<sup>56, <sup>57</sup> Food insecurity has also directly been linked to increased stress levels, anxiety, and depression in mothers.<sup>58</sup></sup>

Despite the numerous associations found between food insecurity and health conditions and behaviors in the adult population, there have been minimal investigations done with the pregnant population. Inferences could be made with the experiences of the general population and the pregnant women; however, the prevalence of food insecurity and its specific impact on the pregnant population is an area of research that needs attention. An additional area of interest is how food insecurity, when experienced during pregnancy, may impact the fetus.

# Impact of Food Insecurity: The Fetus

Very little research has examined how food insecurity may affect the fetus. Given that nutrient and energy demands during pregnancy are increased, a decrease in the amount and quality of food available could substantially impede the proper development of the fetus.

Reduced intake of nutrient-dense foods and an imbalance of micronutrients and macronutrients, during pregnancy have been shown to lead to poor fetal nutrition and improper growth. <sup>4, 6, 13, 20</sup> In a thorough meta-analysis Keen et al. reported an association between the consumption of a poor diet and an increased risk for poor birth outcomes.<sup>7</sup> Experiencing food insecurity in addition to the normal demands of daily living could promote pregnancy complications that could potentially compromise birth outcomes.

The first trimester of pregnancy is a crucial time for development of the fetal organs. Congenital malformations of the fetus<sup>59</sup> and neural tube defects have been linked to the health of the mother in the first trimester.<sup>60</sup> Malnutrition in the first trimester directly affects fetal brain development.<sup>60</sup> It is well understood that folic acid is a critical nutrient in neural tube development, which takes place in the early stages of pregnancy.<sup>61, 62</sup> A less than optimal intake of folic acid and other key nutrients during the first couple of weeks following conception may be a consequence of an unplanned pregnancy. Unintended pregnancy is most prevalent in the early and late stages of fertility and among poor unmarried women.<sup>63</sup> In pregnancies that are unplanned, mothers are more likely to receive little or no preconception and prenatal care,<sup>63</sup> therefore increasing the risk for less than optimal health for the fetus. Poor unmarried women are at a greater risk than others

for experiencing food insecurity. Experiencing food insecurity during pregnancy may be a risk factor contributing to poor birth outcomes.

To date, one study has looked at how food insecurity may affect birth outcomes.<sup>64</sup> The researchers found maternal food insecurity to be associated with increased risk of certain birth defects; specifically a higher level of food insecurity increased the risk of cleft palate, d-transposition of the great arteries, tetralogy of Fallot, spina bifida, and anencephaly.<sup>64</sup> Food insecurity could contribute to a decrease in key nutrients important for the development of the fetal neural tube and associated areas.

There have been no studies to date that have investigated the impact of food insecurity on birth weight. However, the impact of poor nutrition and inadequate dietary intake on birth outcomes has been studied to a great degree. Based on these studies, it is possible to conclude that food insecurity may contribute to undesirable birth weight.

#### **Birth Weight: An Indicator of Health**

Birth weight is used world wide to measure fetal nutritional and health status as well as neonatal and infant mortality.<sup>65, 66</sup> Inappropriate size at birth has been found to increase the risk for a number of adverse health outcomes and disease states in childhood and into adulthood.<sup>67</sup> In 2005, a range of 8.2% to 9.4% of live births in the United States were low birth weight (LBW), defined at less than 5 pounds, 8 ounces (~2,500 g).<sup>41, 67</sup> In the same year, 6.6% of live births in the U.S. were high birth weight (HBW), defined as 8 pounds, 8 ounces (4000g).<sup>41</sup>

The PedNSS addresses the spectrum of birth weights <sup>41</sup> and defines the following birth weight categories: very low birth weight (<1500 g, VLBW), low birth weight (1500

- <2500 g, LBW), normal birth weight (2500 - <4000 g), and high birth weight (>4000 g, HBW). Large for gestational age (LGA) is also a term used to describe infants born at a weight for gestational age that exceeds the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile. Macrosomic infants are defined as birth weight greater than 4500g.<sup>12, 68</sup> Small for gestational age (SGA) infants are newborns weighing less than the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile for gestational age.<sup>12</sup>

Numerous studies have examined complications resulting from birth weight mainly looking at LBW, VLBW, and preterm births. However, birth weights on the higher end of the scale (LGA, HBW) have also been addressed by authors who have investigated the relationship between health and a wide range of birth weights.<sup>69-72</sup>

Birth weight is associated with numerous child disabilities and educational learning hindrances.<sup>66</sup> Specifically, HBW and LBW are related to poor early cognitive development, mental tests scores, and late adolescent cognitive function when combined with social class.<sup>73</sup> Specifically, LBW is associated with lower mean IQ scores, decreased standard cognitive scores, and memory difficulties.<sup>74-77</sup> Despite recent advances in neonatal care, LBW and preterm infants have increased neurodevelopmental, motor, and sensory delay compared to full term and appropriate size for gestational age infants.<sup>78-83</sup>

Physical complications are also a consequence of LBW. Poor lung function and risk for COPD in childhood have been linked with LBW.<sup>84-86</sup> Numerous studies have shown an increased risk of cerebral palsy with LBW.<sup>87-90</sup> Adverse health outcomes in childhood, defined as higher rates of hospital admissions (related to pneumonia, various respiratory viruses, and diarrhea) within the first two years of life are also associated with LBW.<sup>91-93</sup>

In addition, obesity and the development of hypertension and diabetes in childhood have also been linked with LBW.<sup>71, 94, 95</sup> Childhood obesity has been shown to be associated with coronary heart disease and adult obesity<sup>96</sup> as well as contributing to the risk for other child and adult diseases.<sup>97, 98</sup>

HBW is also associated with infant health and health throughout childhood and into adulthood. A 2007 meta analysis discussed the increased prevalence of HBW infants in the past two decades and addressed the short- and long-term risks associated with a birth weight >4000g.<sup>99</sup> The short-term effects on the infant include birth trauma, shoulder dystocia, fetal hypoxia<sup>100</sup> higher death rates,<sup>101</sup> and more than double the risk of hypoglycemia, hyperbilrubinemia, and being transferred to the neonatal intensive care unit.<sup>102</sup> Risks associated with HBW in childhood include: overweight, metabolic syndrome, asthma, and hypertension.<sup>70, 71, 103-106</sup> Numerous childhood complications associated with LBW or HBW may persist into adulthood; hence, an individual born outside the normal birth weight range may experience a continued compromised quality of life.

#### Factors Associated with Birth Weight

# Developmental Origins of Adult Disease

The evidence suggests that birth weight has an important connection with neonatal and infant health and has been associated with adult onset diseases. Predisposition for developing adult onset diseases may be established before birth.<sup>6, 70, 107-<sup>110</sup> Barker's Developmental Origins of Adult Disease hypothesis suggests that the environment in which the fetus grows may be responsible for the long-term health of the</sup> fetus into adulthood.<sup>111</sup> As proposed by Barker, changes in fetal nutrition could contribute to altered cell division during critical stages of development and compromise formation of fetal organs.<sup>111</sup>

The theory specifically addresses the chronic diseases of adults that have been associated with intrauterine growth, fetal nutrition, and weight at birth.<sup>107</sup> A number of researchers have explored this theory and found that a variety of adult diseases are related to birth weight. Follow up studies based on the Dutch famine of 1944-1945 demonstrated that adults who were exposed to under nutrition during their first trimester of intrauterine growth, and/or were LBW, experienced a higher rate of obesity and abdominal fatness than adults who did not experience under nutrition.<sup>3, 108, 112, 113</sup> Adults born at HBW were also shown to have increased rates of obesity<sup>112, 114</sup> and type 2 diabetes.<sup>115</sup> Additionally an inverse relationship between the following adult diseases and birth weight have been reported: lung function/lung disease,<sup>84, 85, 116</sup> type 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance,<sup>107, 108, 113, 117, 118</sup> coronary artery disease and cerebral vascular disease,<sup>107, 119</sup> and hypertension.<sup>107, 118, 120</sup> The risk for breast cancer has been shown be increased for women born either LBW or HBW.<sup>121, 122</sup> The risk for testicular cancer has been shown to be increased for men born at LBW,<sup>123, 124</sup> whereas the risk for prostate cancer<sup>125, 126</sup> has been shown to be increased for men born at HBW.

Predispositions for adult diseases associated with obesity, such as cardiovascular disease, type 2, diabetes, hypertension, and with metabolic syndrome are of great interest given the current obesity epidemic that affects all age and race/ethnicity groups in the U.S. population. Obesity and chronic diseases compromise quality of life and increases morbidity and mortality.<sup>127, 128</sup> As discussed above, food insecurity is associated with

deficits in key nutrient intake and dietary balance. Therefore, maternal food insecurity may contribute to the development of numerous later health complications and chronic diseases by compromising fetal nutrition and the infant's size at birth.

#### Maternal diabetes or high blood sugars-glycemic control

The intrauterine environment has been linked with fetal growth and development specifically related to children of mothers with diabetes. Exposure to hyperglycemic environment in the uterus, related to maternal insulin resistance, obesity, and gestational diabetes mellitus, is linked to fetal overgrowth among all ethnic groups,<sup>129</sup> increasing the likelihood that the offspring will become overweight and develop type 2 diabetes later in life.<sup>70-72, 94, 95, 104</sup> Decreased maternal insulin sensitivity associated with gestational diabetes and maternal obesity is linked to macrosomia and a decrease in fat free mass in the fetus,<sup>130</sup> predisposing the fetus for obesity and glucose intolerances in childhood.

Longitudinal studies of Pima Indian children who are known for their high rates of diabetes demonstrated that LBW and HBW, exposure to diabetes in the uterus, and maternal obesity are major factors in the development of childhood type 2 diabetes and hypertension.<sup>95</sup> In women with diabetes dietary modifications can alter the production of glucose and other metabolic fuels (amino acids, triglycerides, FFA, ketones) that are transported to the fetus and that correlate with fetal growth<sup>131, 132</sup> thereby affecting birth weight.<sup>131, 133-135</sup> The literature also suggests a similar connection between glucose concentration and fetal growth in pregnancies that are not complicated by maternal diabetes or obesity.<sup>131, 133-136</sup> That is, even when the mother does not have diabetes or is not obese, the infant is still impacted by variances in glucose delivery in utero.

Because food insecurity has been related to poor management of type 2 diabetes and obesity, experiencing food insecurity during pregnancy may contribute to undesirable metabolic function in the fetus and mother. The consequences of this could contribute to numerous short- and long-term maternal health complications along with compromising birth weight.

# Maternal prepregnancy weight and gestational weight gain

Maternal weight status during and prior to pregnancy has a direct impact on the long and short-term health of the fetus and birth outcomes. For example, recent findings have shown that among low-income children, maternal obesity in the first trimester is related to double the risk of obesity at 2 to 4 years of age.<sup>137</sup> Obesity during and before pregnancy has been linked to gestational diabetes<sup>130</sup>, caesarean deliveries and complications during delivery, macrosomia and HBW,<sup>68, 99</sup> and congenital defects.<sup>99</sup> Being underweight or having inadequate weight gain during pregnancy has been shown to increase the risk for giving birth to LBW infants.<sup>8</sup>

The timing of the weight gain is also crucial to proper intrauterine growth of the fetus,<sup>8</sup> as identified in the Dutch famine studies.<sup>138</sup> Evidence from the US population shows that excessive weight gain (weight gains of 30 to 34 pounds for overweight women and 15 to 19 pounds for very overweight or obese women) during pregnancy place the baby at higher risk of being HBW or macrosomic.<sup>139</sup> As addressed above, food insecurity has been linked to obesity and difficulty with weight management in women; therefore, food insecurity during pregnancy could contribute to poor birth weight via difficulty with desirable weight balance during gestation.

# Maternal mental and physical health

The mental as well as the physical health of the mother has been linked to birth outcomes and specifically pre-term birth and LBW of the infant. Mood disorders during pregnancy have been shown to affect the health of the mother on a number of levels. Women with depression may loose their appetite, decrease their level of prenatal care,<sup>59</sup> and have increased use of alcohol or illicit drugs,<sup>56, 140, 141</sup> all indirectly affecting the health of the fetus. Smoking<sup>142-147</sup> and alcohol use<sup>59, 140, 141</sup> during pregnancy have consistently been associated with LBW.

Maternal anxiety and stress have independently been associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes such as preterm birth and LBW.<sup>55, 148, 149</sup> Because all commonly used psychoactive medications cross the placenta, using pharmacotherapy to treat mood disorders during pregnancy is the subject of a controversy. Due to the possible adverse effects on the fetus, specifically administering psychotropic drugs during the first trimester, the time when the fetal organs develop, has been shown to cause cognitive malformations in the fetus.<sup>59</sup> As discussed earlier there are many psychosocial disorders associated with food insecurity among pregnant women, <sup>32</sup> hence when food insecurity is present during pregnancy the fetus may be at further risk for poor birth weight.

# Race/Ethnicity

Another factor that impacts birth weight is the race/ethnicity of the mother. The 2005 U.S. statistics on the total number of births for each racial/ethnic minority group membership revealed that among NH African American women and Hispanic women the highest percent of births were born to women aged 18-24.<sup>67</sup> Several studies have

examined the relationship between birth weight and racial and ethnic minority group membership. Comparisons of effects of maternal glucose level on different racial/ethnic groups and birth weight have shown that the risk for LGA infants is significantly greater for NH African American women compared to NH white (European American) women.<sup>131</sup> Differences in pregnancy outcomes and in birth weight between Hispanic (Latina) women and NH white (European American) women have also been shown. According to the 2005 vital statistics report, NH African American mothers have had the highest rate of LBW, VLBW, preterm birth and caesarean delivery since 1990 when compared with all other races.<sup>67</sup>

The U.S. 2005 vital statistics reports revealed that the prevalence rate of diabetes during pregnancy was similar across all races, with a range between 3.6% and 3.9%. NH African American women had the lowest rate at 3.6%, Hispanic (Latina) women had a rate of 3.8%, and NH white (European American) women had a rate of 3.7%.<sup>67</sup> The only race/ethnicities that fell outside the range were NH Puerto Rican women (4.7%), NH American Indian/Alaskan Native women (6.2%) and NH Asian/Pacific Islander (API) women (6.3%).<sup>67</sup> However, the reason for the increased risk of altered pregnancy outcomes for ethnic minority groups has been principally unexplained.<sup>150-152</sup> The many health disparities discussed above may lead to further undesirable birth outcomes among racial and ethnic minorities particularly if food insecurity is experienced during pregnancy.

#### Socio-economic status (SES)

Along with the strong evidence associating birth weight with numerous adult diseases and adverse health outcomes, birth weight has also been linked with compromised social economic status (SES).<sup>153</sup> Low SES is a leading risk factor for compromised birth weight and poor pregnancy outcomes. In addition, a number of risk factors for abnormal size at birth are evidenced in women with low SES. For example, smoking has been shown to be more prevalent in women with a lower SES.<sup>153</sup> Low SES may increase the risk for experiencing food insecurity. Food insecurity combined with low SES may contribute to a higher risk for birthing a LBW or HBW infant.

# Recent Findings on Parental Characteristics and Behaviors

A variety of other maternal characteristics have consistently been shown to have a relationship to birth weight, including maternal age,<sup>154, 155</sup> gestational age,<sup>156, 157</sup> and parity<sup>154, 158</sup> A 2007 publication in the *Journal of Human Reproduction* solidified many of the well-established associations of these factors with birth weight as well as with describing a relationship with previously studied predictors of birth weight.<sup>69</sup> Using the Nurses' Mothers' Cohort, with a final sample of 37,802, the authors found birth weight to be positively associated with gestational age, and maternal birth weight, height, prepregnancy BMI, weight gain, diabetes, and milk consumption during pregnancy. Birth weight was negatively associated with maternal smoking and coffee consumption during pregnancy, maternal infertility, and maternal occupation.

In summary, the above findings provide a strong foundation for the study at hand in regards to the covariates that have shown to be consistent predictors of birth weight

and may be important covariates to consider in the analysis of the association of birth weight with food insecurity.

## Purpose of Study

Up until now, only one study has looked at how food insecurity affects birth outcomes—in that study, the researchers investigated birth defects and did not look at birth weight.<sup>64</sup> The current study examines the prevalence of household food insecurity during pregnancy and explores the relationship between food insecurity and birth weight at either end of the birth weight spectrum (LBW and HBW). Specifically, the U.S. HFSS 6-item short module in the 2005 California Maternal Infant Health Assessment (MIHA) surveillance tool was used as a means for identifying women at increased risk for food insecurity and delivery of an LBW or HBW infant.

In addition, no studies to date have clarified the prevalence of household food insecurity among pregnant women who may be at risk for birthing an infant outside the normal birth weight range. Therefore, exploratory investigation of this sample population is warranted to estimate the prevalence of food insecurity experienced by women with risk factors for birthing a LBW or HBW infant.

Hypothesis: Women who reported household food insecurity during pregnancy are more likely to deliver a LBW or HBW infant.

Aims:

- To determine the overall prevalence of household food insecurity in the pregnant population.
- To investigate whether household food insecurity predicts giving birth to an LBW or HBW infant.
- 3) To explore the prevalence of household food insecurity among pregnant women with characteristics previously shown to be risk factors for birthing an infant outside the normal birth weight range.
- 4) To validate the data used in the present study as representative of the larger US population, specifically by testing whether established predictors of abnormal birth weight in the general population also predict abnormal birth weight in the present study population.

It is critical for the public health community to understand the prevalence of food insecurity in the pregnant population due to the possible negative consequences to the health of the infant and the mother. Experiencing food insecurity during pregnancy may be a modifiable risk factor for giving birth to an infant outside the normal birth weight range. It is important for public health professionals to identify the modifiable maternal health conditions and behaviors experienced by food-insecure women that are risk factors for birthing an LBW or HBW infant. Understanding the relationship between maternal food insecurity and birth weight may be used to provide support and target interventions to improve maternal health and pregnancy outcome.

#### **Study Population: Demographics of California**

Data from the 2005 Maternal and Infant Health Assessment Survey (MIHA) were used to address the study aims. The subjects in the present study were all residents of California at the time of completing the survey and had given birth to live infants in CA in 2005. The MIHA Survey will be discussed further in the methods section.

CA provides a representative population because the state has a vast demographic spread and great representation of many ethnic and socioeconomic groups. It is the most populous of all the United States, currently totaling 12% of the nation's population, and has the fastest-growing Hispanic population in the nation. In 2003, NH whites comprised 47% of CA's population, followed by Hispanics (32%), NH Asian/Pacific Islanders (12%), NH African Americans (7%), and NH American Indian/Alaska Natives (1%).<sup>159</sup>

In 2003, 41% of CA residents over the age of five spoke a language other than English at home, compared to 18% nationwide. Most often the language spoken is Spanish; however, a variety of Asian and Pacific Island languages are also spoken.<sup>159</sup>

CA's average rate of household food insecurity for 2004-2006 was 10.9%, close to the national average of 11.3%. On average, 3.7% of CA residents experienced VLFS compared to the national average of 3.9%.<sup>160</sup>

According to the 2005 PedNSS and the National Vital Statistics for California a range of 6.9% to 7.2% of live births were LBW <sup>41,67</sup> While 8.1% of live births were HBW. <sup>41</sup> The 2005 national range for LBW births was 8.2% to 9.4% and 6.6% for HBW births.<sup>41</sup>
# Chapter 3. Methods

#### **Overview of Maternal Infant Health Assessment Survey**

This cross-sectional study was performed using data drawn from the 2005 California Maternal and Infant Health Assessment Survey (MIHA).

The CA MIHA survey is a community needs assessment and monitoring survey designed to gather information representative of English- and Spanish-speaking CA women aged 15 years or older who gave birth to a live infant. The project is a collaboration of the Maternal and Child Health Branch of the California Department of Health Services and researchers at the University of California, San Francisco (see Appendix A: MIHA survey questionnaire). The MIHA survey was started in 1999 and is administered annually through mail/telephone services. The population-based survey is modeled on the CDC's Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS). The survey asks women about their experiences before, during, and after pregnancy and gathers information about pregnancy outcomes. Survey topics include domestic violence, maternal mental health, breastfeeding, income and economic hardship, maternal education, food security, and WIC participation.

The MIHA survey sampling frame is obtained via CA birth certificates, which provide information regarding demographics and infant birth weight. The birth certificate data are collected using routine practices for CA vital records.

# **MIHA Sampling Methods and Stratification**

The MIHA survey was distributed to eligible women who met the following criteria: had given birth to live infants (singleton, twins, or triplets) in California during February through May of the 2005 survey year; were a California resident; and were aged 15 years and older. Participants were selected using a stratified random sampling method from birth certificates of infants born in CA between February through May, of 2005.

The sampling frame was stratified by region of residence, NH African American race vs. all others, and less than 12 years of education vs. 12 or more years of education. Stratification by NH African American race was carried out to allow for over-sampling of NH African American women. Region of residence in CA and education level of the mother were stratified for sampling to achieve a balanced representation of the population.

Women who were selected from the birth certificate were mailed a letter to introduce the survey when they were 8 to 12 weeks postpartum. Language-appropriate (Spanish or English) MIHA surveys were sent 10 to 14 weeks postpartum based on the women's response to the introduction letter.

## Strategies to address non-response

Multiple strategies were applied to address non-response. Women who did not respond to the MIHA survey were followed up using reminder postcards and second mailings. If mailings failed, telephone follow-up of non-responders was then performed. Women were contacted up to 5 months after the initial mailing (7 months postpartum). Women who completed the MIHA survey received \$10.00 in acknowledgement of their time to complete the survey, plus the opportunity to participate in a raffle for \$250.00 (4 winners).

Sample size adjustments were made by changing sampling rates to ensure adequate numbers of responses from groups who were least likely to respond based on past years' data. Adjustments were made for predicted non-response by NH African American race, years of education, maternal age, and type of insurance coverage.

# Weighting Process

To account for the stratification and sample size adjustments, the MIHA data were weighted to estimate how a random sample of women who recently gave birth might have answered the survey, and to reflect the actual population of CA. The MIHA analysis was weighted for over-sampling of NH African Americans and variables related to nonresponse.

# **Obtaining MIHA Data in the Present Study**

Oregon Health and Science University received a de-identified MIHA data set to ensure confidentiality of the participants. Both the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the California Department of Health Services and Oregon Health and Science University approved the study.

## Measuring Food Insecurity

#### Food Insecurity measurement tools

Food insecurity was measured using the abbreviated 6-item module developed by the United States (U.S.) Food Security Measurement Project. The 6-item module was included in the MIHA survey and serves as the basis for analysis of food insecurity in the present study. The 6-item module has been shown to approximate closely the three main categories of the food-security-status measure; "high food security," "low food security," and "very low food security." The 6-item subset contains the six indicators that were identified to be a good approximation for measuring food insecurity.<sup>161</sup> The specificity and sensitivity of the 6-item module has been shown to be comparable to the 18-item module.<sup>162</sup>

# Guide to Measuring Household Food Security – 2000

The Guide to Measuring Household Food Security<sup>24, 161, 163</sup> is considered to be the "most authoritative and accessible resource on how to measure household food security. It provides detailed guidance for researchers on how to use the survey module to measure food security, food insecurity, and hunger. Statistics from surveys that use these methods are directly comparable to published national statistics."<sup>22</sup> Methods defined in the guide were utilized to identify food insecurity in the study population based on responses to the 6-item module in the MIHA Survey.

# **Inclusion Criteria**

In addition to the inclusion criteria specified by the MIHA survey, the current analysis included only women with singleton births. This exclusion was made due to the high prevalence of LBW associated with multiple births (plurality).<sup>164</sup> Ninety-eight percent of the 2005 MIHA cohort reported "single" for plurality on the birth certificate. Additionally, women who had missing data for the food insecurity questions in the

MIHA survey were excluded. Ninety-eight percent of the women with singleton births had complete data for the food insecurity variables.

# Analytic Outcome Variables

There were two outcomes of interest for the variable birth weight in the present study; LBW (<2500g) and HBW ( $\geq$ 4000g). For descriptive purposes only, and to observe the frequencies of the birth weight categories within each level of household food security, birth weight data was scaled into 5 levels (Table B-1). The categories for birth weight, were modeled after a recent study from the Nurses' Mother's Cohort<sup>69</sup>

# **Analytic Independent Variables**

# Defining Household Food Security

The main predictor of interest was household food security (see Appendix A: MIHA Survey Questionnaire, questions 64-66). Using the methods in *The Guide to Measuring Household Food Security*,<sup>161</sup> the following criteria were used to determine household food security.

The first two food security questions asked on the MIHA survey were: During your most recent pregnancy, was the following often, sometimes, or never true for you? (64. A) "The food that I bought just didn't last and I didn't have money to get more" and (64. B) " I couldn't afford to eat balanced meals." The questions were scored as affirmative if the respondent answered "often true" or "sometimes true." If the response was "never" they were scored as negative.

Answers of "yes" to the following questions were considered affirmative and negative if the answer was "no": (65. A) "During your pregnancy, did you ever cut the size of your meals or skip meals because there wasn't enough money for food?", (66. A) "During your pregnancy, did you ever eat less than you felt you should because there wasn't enough money to buy food?", and (66. B) "During your pregnancy, were you ever hungry but didn't eat because you couldn't afford enough food?". (65. B) "How often did this happen to you?" is asked after the first of the three questions listed above. The response was affirmative if the answer was "almost every month," or "some months but not almost every month." The response was considered negative if the answer was "1 or 2 months", "don't know", or the question was not answered because the response to the previous associated question was "no" or "don't know". If more than three items were missing, the household was scored as missing for the food security variables. As discussed earlier (see Inclusion Criteria), the response "don't know" and missing responses were removed from analysis. However, if the answer was "no" to the question (65. A) "During your pregnancy, did you ever cut the size of your meals or skip meals because there wasn't enough money for food?" the directions were to skip the next question of (65. B) "During your pregnancy, did you ever eat less than you felt you should because there wasn't enough money to buy food?" Women who skipped question 65. B were not excluded from the analysis.

A household was considered to have high food security if the number of affirmative responses was 0 and to have marginal food security with 1 affirmative. Low household food security was determined if there were 2, 3, or 4 affirmatives, and very low food

security was determined with 5, or 6 affirmatives. Shown below is the number of affirmatives, the associated food security status level, and the final reporting status: Table 3-1. Number of affirmative answers related to the food insecurity questions and defined level of food security.

Number of affirmatives	Food Security Status Level	Food Security Reporting status
0	High Food security	Food secure
1	Marginal Food security	Food secure
2	Low food security	Food insecure
3	Low food security	Food insecure
4	Low food security	Food insecure
5	Very low food security	Food insecure
6	Very low food security	Food insecure

Food Security was analyzed as both a categorical variable and a binary variable.

The categorical food security variable included the four levels of household food security (HFS, MFS, LFS, and VLFS). The four-category variable was used to examine whether significant differences occur between women of different demographic characteristics and to explore behaviors and health conditions that a woman may experience leading up to food insecurity. Collapsing HFS and MFS to represent food secure and collapsing LFS and VLFS to represent food insecure created a binary variable. As discussed in the Background section of the study, for reporting purposes LFS and VLFS are often combined to define household food insecurity.

### Other Independent Variables

In addition to the food security variables, other predictor variables for birth weight were included in the study based on a priori research. Covariates were investigated based on their ability to predict LBW or HBW in addition to their potential associations with level of food security. Variables were broken up into demographic data, knowledge and health conditions, and pregnancy intention. Variables that were obtained from the birth certificate were: maternal age, gestational age, and total number of live births (parity). Variables that came from the women's responses to the MIHA survey included: maternal race-ethnicity, prepregnancy BMI (kilograms per square meter), education level, smoked during third trimester, previous LBW, high blood pressure during pregnancy, high blood sugar during pregnancy, depression during pregnancy, living with someone or married at the time of most recent birth, and WIC enrollment during pregnancy.

*Maternal age* was kept as a continuous variable measured in years. *Gestational age* was originally reported in days and was recoded into >36 weeks or  $\leq$ 36 weeks, defined as term and preterm, respectively.<sup>12</sup> Full term (> 36 weeks) was the referent group. Total *number of live births*, defined as parity, was kept as a continuous variable.

The *Maternal Race-ethnicity* variable was taken from question 55.A in the MIHA Survey, "What Ethnic or racial group do you consider yourself? Check all that apply." Below are the response options with the associated abbreviation label in parentheses:

- African-American, Black, or African—(NH African American)
- American Indian, Native American, Eskimo or Aleut—(NH American Indian)

- Asian, Asian-American or Pacific Islander (for example, Chinese, Filipino, Japanese, Korean, Vietnamese, or people from India or another Asian country)—(NH API)
- Latino, Hispanic, Chicano, Mexican or Mexican-American, Central American, or other Latin American—(Latina)
- White, Caucasian, or European, including people from Spain or the Middle East—(NH European American)
- Some other group—(Other)

Following the above question was MIHA question 55.B, which asked, "If you chose more than one group, please write in the name of the group you identify with the most." Or the participant could check the box "I identify equally with all the groups I checked." If the respondent wrote in her race/ethnicity it was added to one of the above options.

*Prepregnancy BMI* was calculated from the weight and height (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) from MIHA questions 8.A and 9, respectively. The continuous BMI value calculated was then categorized into underweight (<19.8), normal weight (19.8-26.0), overweight (26.1-29.0), and obese (>29.0) for this analysis; Using the Institute of Medicine's (IOM) recommended ranges for prepregnancy BMI.<sup>165</sup>

The variable *education* was taken from MIHA question 58, asking, "What is the highest grade or year of school you've completed?" For the following response options, abbreviated labels are shown in parentheses;

- 8<sup>th</sup> grade or less—(<8<sup>th</sup> grade)
- Some high school, but I did not graduate—(Some high school)
- High school (or I got a GED)—(High school or equiv.)

- Some college or junior college, but I did not graduate from a four-year college— (Some college)
- College graduate (from a four-year college or university)—(College Grad)
- Never went to school (collapsed into 8<sup>th</sup> grade or less category due to small cell size; total of n=16 or <0.4%)</li>

"Marital status" was obtained form MIHA question 60, "At the time your baby was born, what was your marital status?" This question was converted into a binary variable by collapsing the categories bulleted below to create a variable, living with someone or not living with someone:

- Married—(living with someone)
- Living with someone like we were married, but not legally married—(living with someone)
- Separated, divorced, or widowed—(not living with someone)
- Single or never married—(not living with someone).

It was important to know if the woman was living with someone or single due to the higher prevalence of household food insecurity in single-parent households, particularly with women as the head of the household. "Marital status" was redefined because a woman who was living with someone but not married would have been in the "unmarried" category but might have experienced quite a different level of support that a separated or single woman. Therefore, a new variable was created to represent *living with someone or married during pregnancy* versus *not living with someone or not married*.

*Smoked in 3<sup>rd</sup> trimester* was obtained from MIHA question 35.C, "During the last 3 months of your pregnancy, how many cigarettes or packs of cigarettes did you smoke

on an average day?" If the participant filled in the number of cigarette or packs smoked per day or checked less than one cigarette per day, the response was coded as "yes." A response of "I didn't smoke at all during the last 3 months of my pregnancy," was coded as "no."

The remaining MIHA variables in the analysis were binary and were coded based on the respondent's answer of "yes" or "no". The covariates examined included: *high blood pressure during pregnancy* and *high blood sugar (diabetes) during pregnancy* from MIHA questions 12.C and 12.E, *feel depressed during pregnancy* from MIHA question 28, *Previous LBW birth* from MIHA question 3, and *WIC enrollment during pregnancy* from MIHA question 63.A.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Analyses were carried out using SPSS version 16.0, Complex Sample Module (CSM) and SUDANN version 9.01. Use of these programs makes it possible to take MIHA's complex sampling design into consideration. The descriptives, cross-tabulation, Pearson chi-square, and one-way ANOVA were performed on the weighted data. The Complex Samples option was used to perform weighted analysis, including the univariate logistic regressions. All results were reported using the above procedures.

Cross-tabulation was carried out for all independent analytic variables against the categorical food security variable (HFS, LFS, MFS, VLFS), the binary food security variable (food secure vs. food insecure), and the variables LBW and HBW. All categorical variables were assessed for adequacy of cell size for analysis. Associations and significant differences between groups were evaluated using Pearson chi-square tests

for the categorical/binary variables, and one-way ANOVA for the continuous variables. Univariate logistic regression analysis was done with each covariate as an independent variable and LBW or HBW as the outcome variable. Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence interval (CI) for independent relationships with the outcome of interest were obtained from the univariate analysis.

The primary objective for the univariate analysis was to obtain unadjusted ORs for food insecurity levels and birth weight (LBW and HBW). A p-value of <.05 was considered statistically significant for Pearson chi-square test, one-way ANOVA, and univariate analyses. P-values that were significant are shaded in the associated results tables located in Appendix B.

# Chapter 4. Results

In 2005, MIHA surveys were sent to 5179 randomly selected women who had recently given birth. The overall response rate for the 2005 survey year was 71.63% (n=3704). After excluding cases with missing data on MIHA food security questions and non-singleton births, the final sample size in the study was 3634.

For analysis, food security was investigated as a binary variable but also was also analyzed as a four category variable for the purpose of exploring the range of food insecurity across the four levels. Table B-1 displays the behaviors and demographics of women in the MIHA survey by the four levels of food security (Appendix B). As described in the background and methods sections of this study, HFS and MFS are considered food secure, while LFS and VLFS are defined as food insecure. Table B-2 (Appendix B) shows the results for the analysis of the binary food insecurity variable by the behaviors and demographic characteristics of women in the MIHA survey. The results below are discussed in binary terms (Table B-2) unless important differences existed between the four levels of food security (Table B-1), which will be further addressed.

The mean ages of the food secure and the food insecure women were 27.2 years  $(\pm 6.2)$  vs. 26.4 years  $(\pm 5.9)$ , respectively (Table B-2). Almost 73% of the women reported HFS, 9.5% reported MFS, 12.5% experienced LFS, and 4.9% reported VLFS (Table B-1). Overall 17.5% of the women were food insecure (Table B-2). As shown in Table B-2, a total of 6.4% of the women gave birth to LBW infants, 9.5% to HBW infants, and 84% gave birth to infants within the normal birth weight range (2500-3999g). Of the women who birthed LBW infants, 21.7% were food insecure. Fourteen and half

percent of the women who gave birth to a HBW infant were food insecure. While there was no statistical difference in birth weight category by the four-category food security variable (p=0.37, Table B-1) or between birth weight and food insecurity as a binary variable (p=0.23, Table B-2), it is interesting to note that the women who delivered LBW infants had the greatest prevalence of food insecurity and women who delivered HBW infants had the lowest prevalence of food insecurity.

Prepregnancy BMI results showed that roughly 20% of women sampled from the MIHA survey were obese, 12.4% were overweight, 11.5% were underweight, and over half were considered normal weight (56.2%) (Table B-1). Obese women had a statistically significant higher rate of food insecurity (24.3%) (Table B-2) and VLFS (7.6%) compared to the other BMI categories (Table B-1). Eighteen percent of overweight women experienced food insecurity, while underweight women were the least likely to be food insecure (12.2%), followed by women who were normal weight (13.7%) (Table B-2).

As shown in Table B-2 NH American Indian women had the highest rate of food insecurity at 33.3%; however, due to the small sample size for NH American Indian women the results may be unstable and difficult to interpret. Latina women reported the second highest rate of food insecurity at 24.6% followed by NH African American women, who reported a rate of 19.7% (Table B-2). NH European American women had the lowest rate of food insecurity at 7.8%. NH API women experienced food security at levels similar to NH European American women, with a rate of 8.0% (Table B-2).

Over 28% of the women reported high school completion, and another 25.1% reported having graduated from college (Table B-2). The highest rates of food insecurity

were reported by women with some high school (32.3%) and those with less than eighth grade education (28.7%). Only 2.6% of women who graduated from college were food insecure. As education level increased, the percent of women experiencing food insecurity decreased.

Roughly 86% of the women gave birth to infants greater than or equal to 37 weeks gestation and 13.8% delivered preterm infants (Table B-2); in other words, the majority of the women carried their pregnancies to term. The prevalence of food insecurity was positively related to prematurity at birth. Almost 21% of the women who delivered preterm births were food insecure, compared to a 16.8% rate of food insecurity for women who did not have a preterm birth (p=0.018, Table B-2).

While the majority of women did not smoke in their third trimester, there was a significant difference found between the prevalence of food insecurity among smokers and nonsmokers. Food insecurity was positively associated with smoking in the third trimester. Twenty-nine percent of women who smoked were food insecure while 16.8% of women who did not smoke were food insecure (Table B-2).

Only 5.5% (Table B-2) of the women reported having previously given birth to an LBW infant but they had almost twice the rate of experiencing food insecurity (27%) compared to the women who reported having had no previous LBW infant (16.9%). The results of the Pearson chi-square analysis showed that food insecurity was positively related to previously giving birth to a LBW infant (p<0.001, Table B-2).

Results of the one-way ANOVA showed that on average, women who reported food insecurity reported more births compared to women who were food secure; the difference in the number of births reported was significantly different (p<0.001, Table B-

2). The mean number of live births reported by women with VLFS, LFS, MFS, and HFS was 2.5 ( $\pm$ 1.5), 2.2 ( $\pm$ 1.2), 2.1 ( $\pm$ 1.4), and 2.0 ( $\pm$ 1.1), respectively. As the number of births reported increased, the level of food insecurity also increased (Table B-1).

Over 21% of women who had high blood pressure during pregnancy were food insecure, which was significantly different (p=0.013) than the 16.8% rate of food insecurity among women who did not have high blood pressure (Table B-2). Of the 9.3% of women who had "high blood sugar (diabetes)" during pregnancy, 20.8% were food insecure, compared to a 16.8% rate of food insecurity among women without "high blood sugar (diabetes)" (p=0.043, Table B-2). Pearson chi-square analysis showed a positive relationship between food insecurity and "high blood sugar (diabetes)" and between high blood pressure. A greater percent of women who had high blood pressure and or "high blood sugar (diabetes)" during pregnancy were food insecure compared to women who did not have one or both of the health conditions.

Food insecurity was positively related to depression during pregnancy. Over 28% of the women reported having experienced depression during pregnancy. Women who reported depression had twice the rate of food insecurity, at 30.7%, compared to women with no reported depression, with a 12.1% rate of food insecurity (Table B-2).

Food insecurity was also positively related to WIC participation during pregnancy. More than half of the women were enrolled in WIC during pregnancy (54.2%), and 28.4% of the women enrolled in WIC reported being food insecure during pregnancy. Women who recorded not having been enrolled in WIC had a 4.6% rate of food insecurity (Table B-2).

Over two-thirds of the women (85.5%) reported living with someone or being married during pregnancy. Single women had almost double the rate of food insecurity at 29.6%, compared to the 15.4% of women who were living with someone or were married.

When Pearson chi-square analysis was carried out with food security as a binary variable, the percent of women who experienced food insecurity was significantly higher at the 0.05 level for all of the demographic variables, behavior variables, and health conditions variables except in regards to birth weight category which was the only variable that was not associated with food insecurity (Table B-2). When Pearson chi-square analysis was done to investigate the relationships between food security as a four-category variable with each demographic variable, behavior variable, and health condition variable the relationships were significant (p<. 05) for all variables except in regards to gestational age, "high blood sugar (diabetes)," high blood pressure, and the birth weight categories. However, where the difference or association between each level of the four categories of food insecurity were not in this analysis; it can only be inferred that there was significant difference between at least one level of food insecurity and the associated variable.

Differences in demographics and behaviors between women who recently gave birth to an LBW or HBW infant are shown in Table B-3 (Appendix B). The percents of women within each subpopulation who birthed an LBW or HBW infant are shown in addition to the associated odds ratio (OR). All of the variables in Table B-1 were investigated in a univariate logistic regression as independent predictors of giving birth to

an LBW or HBW infant. There were a number of variables that independently predicted LBW and or HBW (significant OR, p <.05 are shaded).

Positive independent predictors of LBW included VLFS, underweight BMI category, smoking during the third trimester, previous LBW birth, and high blood pressure during pregnancy. NH African American and NH American Indian race/ethnicity and gestational age less than or equal to 36 weeks were also positive predictors of LBW. The remaining variables were not statistically significant predictors of LBW (Table B-3).

A BMI indicative of obesity before pregnancy was the only positive predictor of HBW as shown in Table B-3. Negative independent predictors of HBW included NH African American, NH API, and Latina racial or ethnic group membership; underweight BMI category; gestational age less than or equal to 36 weeks; previous LBW birth; depression during pregnancy; living with someone or married during pregnancy; and WIC enrollment during pregnancy. The remaining variables were not significant predictors of HBW (Table B-3).

### Chapter 5. Discussion

The first aim of the study was to determine the overall prevalence of household food insecurity in the pregnant population. Among the women in the 2005 California MIHA survey, 12.5% experienced LFS, 4.9% reported VLFS, 9.5% reported MFS, and about 73% reported HFS. Overall, pregnant women (in the MIHA survey) had higher rates of LFS and VLFS compared to both CA residents (7.2% LFS, 3.7% VLFS) and the national averages (7.4% LFS, 3.9% VLFS) for 2004-2006 (Table B-3). When binary analysis of the food security variable was carried out to describe the prevalence of food insecurity, 17.5% of the MIHA women experienced food insecurity (Table B-3). The findings suggest that pregnant women with singleton births may experience a higher rate of household food insecurity compared to the average population.

Understanding how food insecurity was related to birth weight required a thorough description of the population. Therefore, it was also important to clarify the prevalence of infants born LBW or HBW in the present population. Within the cohort, 6.4%, of the women gave birth to a LBW infant and 9.5% gave birth to a HBW infant. The 2005 PedNSS revealed that the national rate of LBW and HBW was 9.4% and 6.6% respectively, while CA results for the PedNSS showed a 7.2% rate of LBW and an 8.1% rate of HBW. The women were all CA residents at the time of completing the survey and the present results showed consistency with the state of CA. The deviation from the national level could be due to a number of factors related to data collection and regionallity of the sample within CA. Overall, it appears that women in the study were a good representation of the women in the CA population.

There were no significant relationships found between the prevalence of food insecurity and birth weight category, but it is important to note that women who gave birth to an LBW infant had a higher prevalence of food insecurity (21.6%) than women who gave birth to a HBW infant (14.5%) (Table B-1, Table B-2). This pattern suggests that the prevalence of food insecurity may increase as birth weight decreases, although the relationship was not significant in the present analysis, further investigations are warranted given the preliminary results.

The hypothesis of the study was that women who reported household food insecurity during pregnancy would be more likely to give birth to an LBW or HBW infant. The second aim of the study tested the hypothesis by investigating whether household food insecurity predicted giving birth to a LBW or HBW infant. Women who were food insecure were found to be no more or less likely to give birth to an LBW or HBW infant (Table B-3). However, when looking at food insecurity as a categorical variable, VLFS was a significant independent predictor of LBW. This finding partially supports the hypothesis and suggests that it may be a reduction in the quantity of maternal food intake, along with decrease in the variety, and quality of the maternal diet that affects birth weight.

VLFS is the level of food insecurity at which the household may experience altered eating patterns and an actual reduction in quantity of food intake due to a lack of resources. Birth weight may not be measurably impacted until the quantity and quality of the diet is reduced and maternal eating patterns are altered, as evidenced by VLFS being the only statistically significant predictor of LBW. Intervention should occur when a pregnant woman is experiencing LFS or even MFS in an effort to prevent experiencing

VLFS. The key point is that identifying pregnant women at risk for developing food insecurity and intervening as soon as possible may lead to long-term health benefits for the mother and infant.

The third aim of the study was to determine the prevalence of household food insecurity among pregnant women with maternal characteristics previously shown to be risk factors for birthing an infant outside the normal birth weight range. The fourth aim was to validate the data used in the present study as representative of the larger US population, specifically by testing whether established predictors of abnormal birth weight in the general population also predicted abnormal birth weight in the present study population. For the purpose of discussion, the third and fourth aims will be addressed as each relates to the other. The following demographic characteristics, behaviors, and health conditions will be addressed: maternal race/ethnicity, income, living with someone during pregnancy, prepregnancy BMI, gestational age, smoking during pregnancy, depression during pregnancy, previously birthing an LBW infant, high blood pressure, high blood sugar, WIC participation during pregnancy, and parity.

Many of the maternal characteristics investigated in the study were chosen because they had been shown to be predictors of birth weight in existing literature. However, the study was unique because it examined the a priori predictors of birth weight in women who experienced different levels of food insecurity. The results showed similar findings to the existing literature for many of the predictors of birth weight, which provided validity to the sample population and to the overall study results. In addition, the results demonstrated that among pregnant women with characteristics previously

shown to be predictive of low or high birth weight, a higher rate of food insecurity was experienced compared to women without the characteristics.

## Race/ethnicity

Women of racial and ethnic minorities experienced significant differences with food insecurity and birth weight. The results are similar to the national rates of food insecurity in which racial/ethnic minority group membership is a strong predictor for a woman experiencing food insecurity and birthing an infant outside the normal birth weight range.<sup>22, 67</sup>

The study showed that American Indian women had the highest rate of food insecurity (33.3%) and had the greatest likelihood of giving birth to an LBW infant (OR=5.4). NH African American women were 2.5 times more likely (OR= 2.5, 95% CI 1.67-3.83) than NH European American women to have an LBW infant and had the third highest rate of food insecurity (19.7%, Table B-2). NH African American women were almost half as likely to give birth to a HBW infant compared to NH European American women (OR=0.48 95% CI .30-.76). The results of the study demonstrate that NH African American women experienced a higher level of food insecurity during pregnancy and may be a population at risk for giving birth to an LBW infant but may have less of a risk for birthing a HBW infant.

Similar to NH African American women, Latina women (OR=0.75, 95% CI 0.57-0.97) and NH API women (OR=0.60, 95% CI 0.38-0.94) were also less likely to give birth to a HBW infant compared to NH European American women (Table B-3). Latina women had the highest rate of VLFS (7.2%, Table B-1) and the third highest rate of

overall food insecurity at 24.6% (Table B-2) and API women had one of the lowest rates of food insecurity at 8.0% (Table B-2). Given the results of the study and national reports, racial/ethnic minority group membership appears to be a critical demographic characteristic that could place a pregnant woman at higher risk for food insecurity and for birthing an LBW or HBW infant.

#### Income

Income is also an important demographic characteristic contributing to the risk of experiencing household food insecurity.<sup>22</sup> Education was chosen in the study as a surrogate for income. Other studies have taken this approach due to the high correlation of income level with education.<sup>64</sup> Significant differences were found between education level (p<.001) and rate of food security (Table B-2). Overall, as the level of education decreased the prevalence of food insecurity increased. Given that education level was used as a measure of income, the results are similar to national reports showing that women living in poverty have the highest rate of food insecurity.<sup>22</sup> Consistent with other studies, pregnant women with a low income appear to be at high risk for experiencing food insecurity.<sup>32</sup>

Interestingly, in the univariate analysis education was not a predictor of LBW or HBW. However, the rate of having a HBW infant appeared to increase with level of education and having an LBW infant appeared to increase with decreased level of education. Equating education to income and SES, the present findings are not consistent with other studies demonstrating that SES is one of the leading risk factors for LBW.<sup>153</sup> Given that diet quality is compromised quite significantly among low-income pregnant

women,<sup>39</sup> and that food insecurity is more prevalent among low-income pregnant women, food insecurity may still impact birth weight. In addition, single pregnant women who are heads of households may be at an even greater risk of experiencing food insecurity and of birthing infants at abnormal birth weights.

# Single or living with someone during pregnancy

At the national level, single women heads of households have the highest rate of living in poverty<sup>30</sup> and have the highest rate of experiencing food insecurity.<sup>22</sup> While living with someone during pregnancy related to income was not investigated, it was found that women who were single during pregnancy had double the rate of food insecurity (LFS 20.7%, VLFS 8.9%, Table B-1) (food insecure 29.6%, Table B-2) compared to women who were living with someone or married.

Women with a partner, married or otherwise, were no more or less likely to give birth to an LBW infant but were less likely to give birth to a HBW infant (OR=0.56 95% CI 0.37-0.83) (Table B-3). Overall, it appears that being single during pregnancy is not a risk factor for having a LBW or HBW, but that it is positively associated with food insecurity.

# Prepregnany BMI

Maternal weight and prepregnancy BMI are characteristics that have short- and long-term health implications for the mother and infant.<sup>8, 166</sup> Obesity has been shown to be associated with food insecurity in women<sup>31, 35, 36, 49-51</sup> but the link between prepregnancy BMI and food insecurity has not been reported. In the study, it appeared

that as food insecurity decreased prepregnancy BMI decreased. Women who had a BMI indicative of underweight before pregnancy had the lowest prevalence of food insecurity (12.2%, Table B-2) compared to other BMI categories. Women who had a BMI indicative of obesity before pregnancy had significantly higher rates of food insecurity (24.3%, Table B-2) compared to women in the other BMI categories. The findings suggest that pregnant women who are obese before pregnancy may have a higher prevalence of food insecurity compared to women who are not obese prepregnancy.

Obesity during pregnancy compromises the health of the fetus on many levels and places the infant at risk for HBW, macrosomia, congenital defects, and Type 1 and 2 diabetes.<sup>8, 70, 99, 137</sup> Obese women were 78% (OR=1.78, 95% CI 1.34-2.34) more likely to give birth to a HBW infant than normal weight women (Table B-3). Women who were underweight prepregnancy were 55% (OR= 1.55 95% CI 1.02-2.34) more likely to give birth to an LBW infant compared to normal weight women. The findings are consistent with other studies that have shown underweight to be a risk factor for birthing an LBW infant.<sup>8</sup> Underweight women were less likely (OR=0.34 95% CI 0.19-0.62) to have a HBW infant compared to normal weight women (Table B-3).

Overall, the present study results support past research revealing that prepregnancy BMI is related to birth weight.<sup>8, 69, 99, 166</sup> Despite the fact that underweight women have a lower prevalence of food insecurity, they have a greater likelihood of having an LBW infant, and food-insecure women have a higher likelihood of having an LBW infant. The HBW infants born to obese food insecure women may be overfed and undernourished and the LBW infants born to women who are not obese but food insecure may be underfed and undernourished.

Intervention aimed toward decreasing maternal food insecurity may directly impact LBW birth weight outcomes and indirectly impact HBW outcomes by reducing maternal prepregnancy obesity. Under-nutrition during pregnancy, defined by maternal VLFS, could directly affect birth weight by increasing a women's likelihood of birthing an LBW infant. Food insecurity could indirectly affect birth weight via prepregnancy obesity. Women who are obese and food insecure may be a population at risk for abnormal birth weight outcomes. In order to decrease obesity among food insecure pregnant women, it is crucial to investigate what is lacking in the food-insecure diet.

### Gestational age/ preterm birth

Women with a preterm birth may be a population at risk for experiencing higher levels of food insecurity. This study's findings revealed that infants born at less than 36 weeks (preterm) were 45% (OR=0.45, 95% CI 0.06-0.10) less likely to be HBW (Table B-3). Infants born prematurely were over 12 times as likely (OR= 12.05, 95% CI 8.97-16.19) to be LBW than infants born at term (Table B-3). This result is not surprising given that infants who have a shorter gestational period are at risk for being SGA and LBW.<sup>156, 157</sup> Food-insecurity status was significantly different between the women who gave birth to term and preterm infants (p=0.018) (Table B-2). The results show consistency with past research on birth weight and gestational age. Based on these findings, one cannot assume that there is a causal relationship between preterm birth and food insecurity; however, it can be observed that the prevalence of food insecurity is higher in women with a preterm infant.

# Smoking during pregnancy

Women who smoke during pregnancy may also be a population at increased risk of experiencing food insecurity. There have been numerous studies that have shown smoking during pregnancy to have a direct impact on reduced fetal growth and later health consequences.<sup>142-147</sup> Smoking status was defined as smoking during the third trimester because fetal lung development takes place in the final weeks of pregnancy<sup>7, 84</sup> and it was suggested that women who smoked during the final trimester were more likely to have smoked throughout their whole pregnancy than women who reported smoking during the first trimester. Women who reported smoking in the third trimester were found to be over two times as likely (OR=2.23, 95% CI 1.32-3.78) to give birth to an LBW infant than nonsmokers (Table B-3). Food insecurity in the study was also the highest among women who smoked (Table B-2). Women who are food insecure and smoke could therefore have a number of overlapping risk factors for poor birth outcomes.

#### Depression during pregnancy

Food insecurity among women who reported depression during pregnancy was significantly (p<0.001) higher than in women who did not report having had depression during pregnancy (Table B-2). Alcohol or illicit drug use has been shown to be higher in women experiencing depression.<sup>56, 140, 141</sup> and alcohol or illicit drug use can directly affect the birth weight of the infant.<sup>59, 140, 141</sup> Women in the study who reported depression in pregnancy were 72% (OR=0.72 95% CI 0.55-0.96) less likely to have an HBW infant compared to women without depression, and although not statistically significant, women who reported depression during pregnancy were 32% (OR=1.32, 95% CI 0.99-1.78) more

likely to give birth to an LBW infant (Table B-3). Women with depression had almost three times the rate of food insecurity compared to women without depression. The results cannot indicate that depression may increase the risk for food insecurity or that food insecurity many increase the risk for depression. However, other studies have shown that depression is related to food insecurity experienced during pregnancy.<sup>32</sup> Negative effects on the fetus that may result from maternal depression include an increased risk for birth defects and decreased maternal food intake.<sup>132, 147, 167</sup>Therefore, maternal depression may further compromise fetal health when food insecurity is experienced.

### Previous LBW infant

The present study results showed that previously giving birth to an LBW infant was one of the strongest positive predictors of LBW (OR=6.64, 95% CI 4.63-9.51) (Table B-3). Women who previously gave birth to an LBW infant were less likely than others to have an HBW infant (OR=0.38, 95% CI 0.17-0.81) (Table B-3). Additionally, food insecurity was significantly higher (p<.001) in women with a previous LBW birth (Table B-2). Women in the study who had a previous LBW infant had a higher prevalence of food insecurity and were at increased risk for giving birth to another LBW infant. Although causation cannot be assumed, the findings suggest that addressing maternal food insecurity may help to reduce the risk of birthing an LBW infant.

# High blood pressure and high blood sugar (diabetes) during pregnancy

A large number of studies have explored the relationship between diabetes and birth outcomes<sup>70-72, 94, 95, 104, 130</sup> and high blood pressure and birth weight.<sup>8</sup> The study found maternal food insecurity to be experienced at an increased rate among women with the above conditions. Consistent with existing research, high blood pressure was found to be a significant predictor of LBW (OR=3.04, 95% CI 2.18-4.24) (Table B-3). Women in the study reporting high blood pressure during pregnancy had a significantly higher rate of food insecurity than other women (p=0.013, Table B-2). Additionally, women who reported having had "high blood sugar (diabetes)" during pregnancy had a higher prevalence of food insecurity than other women (p=0.043, Table B-2). However "high blood sugar (diabetes)" during pregnancy was not a significant predictor of LBW or HBW (Table B-3). The outcomes suggest no predictive application for "high blood sugar (diabetes)" during pregnancy and birth weight but do suggest that women with "high blood sugar (diabetes)" during pregnancy experience an increased rate of food insecurity. High blood sugar, diabetes, and high blood pressure are all modifiable risk factors for undesirable birth weight. The prevalence of food insecurity among women with these health conditions and their relationship to birth weight may be a potential avenue for future study and intervention.

#### *WIC enrollment during pregnancy*

National WIC reports have demonstrated that the prevalence of LBW is significantly lower for women who were enrolled in WIC during pregnancy.<sup>168</sup> The prevalence of HBW is currently not documented in the biannual reports that WIC publishes, which may be an area for future research. Women in the study who were enrolled in WIC during pregnancy were no more or less likely to have an LBW infant compared with other women (OR=1.21, 95% CI 0.91-1.60), but were less likely to give

birth to an HBW infant (OR=0.66 95% CI 0.52-0.83) (Table B-3). Despite the fact that the study showed no difference in the risk of birthing a LBW infant with WIC enrollment during pregnancy, the national statistics indicate that WIC is positively influencing birth weight.<sup>168</sup> Serving women with food insecurity could be one possible factor contributing to the decreased rates of LBW infants in the WIC population.

The Household Food Security in the United States, 2005 document reported that 39.5% of women who participated in WIC were food insecure and 10.2% had VLFS.<sup>22</sup> In addition, a recent review demonstrated that WIC recipients are at a higher nutritional risk than non-WIC recipients,<sup>169</sup> solidifying the fact that WIC is serving those most in need. WIC participants in the study appear to have a lower prevalence of food insecurity than the national average, which could be due to the fact that the sample size included only pregnant women and the national sample included all women and children receiving WIC resources. Women in the study who were enrolled in WIC during pregnancy had a significantly higher level of food insecurity (LFS 20.5%, VLFS 8.0%, Table B-1) (food insecurity 28.4%, Table B-2) compared with women not enrolled in WIC. This is a positive finding suggesting that a portion of women at nutritional risk are being assisted. It appears from the results and national reports that a higher percent of women enrolled in WIC are food insecure than women not enrolled in WIC, but the question remains whether WIC is alleviating stressors around food resources and decreasing food insecurity. Given that a large percent of the WIC recipients are food insecure, the WIC program may be a key player in alleviating and influencing the prevalence of food insecurity during pregnancy and further impacting birth weight.

# Parity

The number of children in the household may also increase the risk for a women experiencing food insecurity and in turn possibly affect the birth weight of the infant. The findings in the present study are consistent with other studies showing that the number of children in the household increases the risk for experiencing food insecurity.<sup>29, 31</sup> Parity has also been shown to be a predictor of birth weight.<sup>154, 158</sup> Women with greater than 2.2 births were 11% (OR=1.11, 95% CI 1.02-1.22) more likely to give birth to an HBW infant than women with less than 2.2 births (Table B-3). Parity was also significantly associated (p<.001) with food insecurity; as the number of births that a woman reported increased, the rate of food insecurity also increased (Table B-2). Causation cannot be determined from the study, but because women with more than two births seem to be at a higher risk for food insecurity, decreasing the prevalence of food insecurity may help to ease extra stressors. By alleviating the possible stressors related to food insecurity, the birth weight of additional infants might be positively affected for women with more than two births.

Overall, a number of maternal demographic characteristics, behaviors, and health conditions investigated in this study were shown to have statistically higher levels of food insecurity compared to women with different demographic characteristics who did not exhibit the behavior or health conditions. In addition, a number of the same demographic characteristics, behaviors, and health conditions were found to be negative and positive predictors of LBW or HBW. The findings point toward the idea that decreasing food insecurity may indirectly improve birth weight.

It is critical for the public health community to understand the relationship of food insecurity and pregnancy outcome due to the numerous overlapping demographic characteristics, health conditions, and behaviors associated with both food insecurity and poor pregnancy outcomes. Poor mental, physical, and emotional health of the mother directly affects the birth weight of her infant, and poor birth weight directly affects the overall health of the infant. A better understanding of the relationship between food insecurity and birth weight will make it possible to develop targeted interventions needed to reduce or prevent food insecurity during pregnancy and improve maternal health and pregnancy outcome.

#### **Chapter 6. Strengths and Future Direction**

This study asks a valuable question regarding how the birth weight of an infant may be influenced by characteristics of women who are food insecure. The prevalence of food insecurity in the pregnant population was explored along with the ability of food insecurity to predict birth weight. To date, no other studies have investigated the impacts of food insecurity on birth weight or the prevalence of food insecurity among women at risk for birthing an abnormal birth weight infant.

One of the strengths of the study included the use of the MIHA Survey. The comprehensive nature of the MIHA dataset and the application of a well-validated tool to clarify food insecurity provided a unique opportunity to explore the prevalence of food insecurity and its affect on birth weight. The most current guidelines were used to define and report on the status of food insecurity in the population.<sup>22, 161</sup> Future studies should

use the U.S. HFSS 6-item module because it can be administered in a wide variety of settings and be compared across the nation.

Federal and state programs such as the Food Stamp Program and WIC can use food security data to incorporate strategies to meet the unmet needs of the at-risk pregnant population. Not surprisingly, results from the present study and results from national reports <sup>22</sup> showed that women enrolled in WIC during pregnancy had higher rates of food insecurity than women not enrolled in WIC. Overall, food-insecure households seem to make use of state and local emergency food resources more than federal programs. <sup>22</sup>

Future research could focus on how to decrease the rate of food insecurity by addressing the resources available in the federal and state programs. Measuring the impact of decreasing rates of food insecurity on birth weight could then be studied. The current study did not investigate the rate of food insecurity among pregnant women who received food stamps or emergency food from kitchens and pantries. Further studies are needed to specifically identify the prevalence of food insecurity among pregnant women enrolled in existing state and federal programs. This would help to determine if the programs are meeting the needs of pregnant women at nutritional risk and are contributing to improved birth weight.

Meal planning, additional nutrition education, financial budgeting, and community networking may be ways in which the local community could allocate resources to address inconsistent food intake among women experiencing food insecurity. Despite the numerous programs and services presently available, avocation for more outreach and awareness of the prevalence and negative consequences of food insecurity

in the pregnant population is needed. In order to intervene and improve pregnancy outcomes, studies are needed to determine the prevalence of macronutrient and micronutrient deficiencies for which the food-insecure pregnant woman may be at risk. Therefore, if a pregnant woman is identified as food insecure, nutrition and public health professionals could then target the intake of specific nutrients that have been shown to be deficient in the food insecure pregnant population.

The association of food insecurity with obesity has been identified and studied over the past decade. In addition to being consistent with previous studies, it was observed that the rate of obesity was highest among women reporting to have experienced food insecurity during pregnancy. One direction for future research is investigating the long- and short-term effects of food insecurity on the endocrine system and gain more insight into the risk of obesity related to food insecurity in children and adults and its long-term metabolic consequences.

The results of this study may be used to provide a foundation for future analysis of the prevalence rates of food insecurity among women at risk of birthing LBW OR HBW infants. The study found that the prevalence of food insecurity was significantly higher among pregnant women with certain demographic characteristics, behaviors, and health conditions previously found to be associated with birth weight. The U.S. HFSS 6item or 18-item food security measurement module may provide a way to identify women at an increased risk for birthing an LBW or HBW infant. Local clinics, nutrition professionals, public health experts, and healthcare facilities, along with state and federal agencies, may benefit from utilizing a single survey that measures household food security and risk for undesirable birth weight.

Birth weight is used as an overall measure of birth outcomes and as an indicator of infant health. Given the numerous short- and long-term health complications and disease states associated with LBW and HBW, it is crucial that the public health community strives to increase the percent of birth weights within the normal range (2500-3999 g). Little is known about how food insecurity is related to birth outcomes, but further study of food insecurity has a wealth of potential for predicting maternal and child health outcomes. Future studies are needed to investigate whether food security status is a useful indicator for predicting poor birth outcomes. Improving maternal food security during pregnancy is an area where intervention could potentially have grand effects on overall national health.

# Chapter 7. Limitations

There were a number of limitations in the present study—limitations due to the actual MIHA survey, birth certificate recording, and the limitations that were the result of the statistical analysis.

According to the MIHA researchers, the following are recognized study limitations of the MIHA survey. The format and administration of the survey as a mixed mode type, (mail and telephone) may limit the number and complexity of the questions. In addition, pregnant women may answer questions differently with a mixed mode questioner due to social pressure of not wanting to report accurate behavioral and environmental problems such as smoking, drinking, drug use, or poor eating patterns. All of these behaviors may harm the infant so the mother may not feel comfortable when answering questions about these issues. According to CDC findings, women who respond

to similar surveys by mail are more likely to report drinking, homelessness, and smoking than if they are contacted via the phone.<sup>170</sup> Despite multiple strategies to address non-response, bias may still be present due to the diversity, low literacy, language barrier, and region of the sampling frame. The above limitations might have made it more difficult to see a relationship between behaviors or risk factors and birth outcomes.

Another possible area of bias could be due to the retrospective survey design. Women completed the surveys 10-14 weeks postpartum, which could have affected their ability to recall their time during pregnancy. Additionally, because of the possible temporal relationship between food insecurity or birth weight and the covariates analyzed, causation cannot be determined.

Given that the survey is mailed with a telephone follow-up, it does not reach women who are homeless or not at a stable address (although efforts are made to find women who have moved to different addresses). The actual rate of food insecurity could be underestimated; in addition, the national and state reported rates could also be affected by this limitation.

Despite the large sample size of MIHA, some variables had inadequate numbers for analyzing the given variable and its relationship with food insecurity and or birth weight. Women who reported American Indian for race and ethnicity represented less than 0.5% of the population, which resulted in a very small cell size. Due to the lack of representation, results from the analysis of the American Indian women may have been unstable and difficult to interpret.

A larger sample size may also have allowed for more detectable differences between the four levels of food insecurity and the associated variables. It was difficult in
the present study to identify where the significant differences occurred between the levels of food security. Cross-tabulations comparison between each level of food insecurity with each variable was difficult to carry out due to the sample size. The significant p-values observed for the four levels of food security (Table B-1) only indicated that there was significant difference between at least one of the levels. Future analysis and investigation of the variables would be ideal with a larger sample size and would benefit from the separation of the food-security phenotypes. However, cross-tabulation of food security with food insecurity as a binary variable resulted in numerous significant differences between the demographic, behavioral, and health conditions variables. The results of the binary analysis revealed that this way of investigating food security was more appropriate than a categorical analysis, given the available sample size.

The objective of the study was to investigate food insecurity as an unadjusted predictor of LBW or HBW. Exploration of the odds of birthing an LBW or HBW infant in women experiencing different levels of household food insecurity after adjusting for a priori predictors of LBW and HBW in multiple regression models may have reduced confounding and made it easier to interpret results. Future studies would benefit from multivariate analysis based on the preliminary findings. Collapsing some of the covariates into binary variables or dropping some of the covariates might also lead to a larger cell size and a better interpretation of the analysis. Further studies may also benefit from investigating food insecurity as a continuous variable on a scale, which may increase the power for detecting significant differences between the levels. In addition, it may be beneficial for researchers to look at birth weight as a continuous variable. A

greater statistical significance may be found due to a decrease in the parameter restrictions present with the binary outcome variable.

Making general claims based on the results of the study may be limited by the demographics of California. The ability to apply the results to the national population is contingent on continued analysis at the state and local levels.

### Chapter 8. Conclusion

The main objective of the study was to identify the overall prevalence of food insecurity among pregnant women. Food insecurity experienced in the pregnant population appeared to be higher than that of the general population. The hypothesis was that women who reported having experienced household food insecurity during pregnancy would be more likely to give birth to an LBW or HBW infant. The hypothesis was partially supported by VLFS being a significant predictor of LBW. Women who experienced VLFS during pregnancy were 75% more likely to give birth to an LBW infant (OR 1.75 95% CI 1.0-3.06) compared to women who experienced HFS. Food insecurity as a binary variable was also analyzed as an independent predictor of LBW or HBW but no significant findings were observed.

To date, no other study has looked at food insecurity as a predictor of birth weight. Given the significance of the preliminary analysis related to the predictability of VLFS and birth weight, additional studies are needed to investigate whether food insecurity is related to birth weight after accounting for confounding variables.

The maternal characteristics that were investigated had been shown to be established predictors and risk factors for abnormal birth weight. Similar results were observed with past research related to maternal risk factors that predicted LBW or HBW. The consistency with previous research validates the quality of the sample population. However, the study was unique in that the prevalence of food insecurity was investigated among a priori maternal predictors of birth weight. Until now, no study has investigated the prevalence of food insecurity experienced by women who were at high risk for birthing an infant outside the normal birth weight range. Further research is warranted

due to the observation that a number of maternal characteristics were found to be positively associated with food insecurity.

Despite the minimal findings that food insecurity predicts birth weight, women who experience food insecurity during pregnancy may still be a high-risk population for poor birth outcomes due to the numerous overlapping characteristics discussed here. In order to fully understand the relationship between food insecurity and birth weight, future studies are needed to address the possible confounding variables. Improving food insecurity may partially decrease the prevalence of abnormal birth weight infants. Strategies to assure quality diets and adequate intake for pregnant women who experience food insecurity need to be investigated by federal, state and local food assistance programs. Nutrition and public health professionals have a responsibility to identify the appropriate nutrient and dietary needs for the pregnant food-insecure woman in addition to the ideal time to offer intervention. The importance of nutrition during pregnancy cannot be emphasized enough. Additional research should focus on the accessibility of adequate quantity and quality of nutrient-dense foods for pregnant woman at risk for birthing an infant with abnormal birth weight. Healthy birth weight may be key in reducing chronic diseases of adulthood, and promoting better health for the individual and community at local, state, and national levels.

### References

- 1. Kramer MS. Maternal nutrition, pregnancy outcome and public health policy. Canadian Medical Association Journal. 1998; 159(6):663-665.
- 2. Strauss RS. Effects of the intrauterine environment on childhood growth. Br Med Bull. 1997 Jan; 53(1):81-95.
- 3. Ravelli AC, van Der Meulen JH, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Bleker OP. Obesity at the age of 50 y in men and women exposed to famine prenatally. Am J Clin Nutr. 1999; 70(5):811-816.
- 4. Moore VM, Davies MJ, Willson KJ, Worsley A, Robinson JS. Dietary composition of pregnant women is related to size of the baby at birth. J Nutr. 2004; 134(7):1820-1826.
- Godfrey KM. Maternal regulation of fetal development and health in adult life. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 1998; 78(2):141-150.
- 6. Godfrey KM, Barker DJ, Robinson S, Osmond C. Maternal birthweight and diet in pregnancy in relation to the infant's thinness at birth. British Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 1997; 104(6):663-667.
- Keen CL, Clegg MS, Hanna LA, et al. The plausibility of micronutrient deficiencies being a significant contributing factor to the occurrence of pregnancy complications. J Nutr. 2003; 133(5 Suppl 2):1597S-1605S.
- 8. Kaiser LL, Allen L, American Dietetic A. Position of the American Dietetic Association: Nutrition and lifestyle for a healthy pregnancy outcome. J Am Diet Assoc. 2002; 102(10):1479-1490.
- 9. Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine. Subcommittees on Upper Reference Levels of Nutrients and Interpretation and Uses of Dietary Reference Intakes, and the Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference Intakes. Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrates, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids. 500th ed. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2005.

- 10. von Versen-Hoeynck FM, Powers RW. Maternal-fetal metabolism in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Front Biosci. 2007; 12:2457-2470.
- 11. Tam O, Innis SM. Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids in gestation alter fetal cortical phospholipids, fatty acids and phosphatidylserine synthesis. Dev Neurosci. 2006; 28(3):222-229.
- 12. American Academy of Pediatrics. Committee on Nutrition, Kleinman RE. Pediatric Nutrition Handbook. 5th ed. Elk Grove Village, IL: American Academy of Pediatrics, 2004.
- 13. Ashworth CJ, Antipatis C. Micronutrient programming of development throughout gestation. Reproduction. 2001; 122(4):527-535.
- 14. Scholl TO. Iron status during pregnancy: Setting the stage for mother and infant. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005; 81(5):1218S-1222S.
- 15. Ganpule A, Yajnik CS, Fall CH, et al. Bone mass in indian children--relationships to maternal nutritional status and diet during pregnancy: The pima maternal nutrition study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006; 91(8):2994-3001.
- 16. Fronczak CM, Baron AE, Chase HP, et al. In utero dietary exposures and risk of islet autoimmunity in children. Diabetes Care. 2003; 26(12):3237-3242.
- 17. Hollis BW, Wagner CL. Nutritional vitamin D status during pregnancy: Reasons for concern. CMAJ. 2006; 174(9):1287-1290.
- Woods JR,Jr, Plessinger MA, Miller RK. Vitamins C and E: Missing links in preventing preterm premature rupture of membranes? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001; 185(1):5-10.
- Lee BE, Hong YC, Lee KH, et al. Influence of maternal serum levels of vitamins C and E during the second trimester on birth weight and length. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2004; 58(10):1365-1371.
- 20. Kramer MS. The epidemiology of adverse pregnancy outcomes: An overview. J Nutr. 2003; 133(5 Suppl 2):1592S-1596S.

- 21. [Anonymous]. Core indicators of nutritional state for difficult-to-sample populations. J Nutr. 1990; 120(Suppl 11):1559-1600.
- Nord, Mark. Andrews, Margaret S.Carlson, Steven, United States, Dept. of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Household Food Security in the United States, 2005. Washington, DC: U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, 2005.
- Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research. Current Population Survey, April 1995 Food Security Supplement <http://webapp.icpsr.umich.edu/cocoon/ICPSR-STUDY/03037.xml; Note: Access restricted ; authentication may be required: http://webapp.icpsr.umich.edu/cocoon/ICPSR-STUDY/03037.xml>. Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research distributor, Ann Arbor, Mich, 2000.
- 24. Carlson SJ, Andrews MS, Bickel GW. Measuring food insecurity and hunger in the United States: Development of a national benchmark measure and prevalence estimates. J Nutr. 1999; 129(2S Suppl):510S-516S.
- 25. Wunderlich, Gooloo S. Norwood, Janet Lippe, National Research Council (U.S.), Panel to Review U.S. Department of Agriculture's Measurement of Food Insecurity and Hunger. Food Insecurity and Hunger in the United States : An Assessment of the Measure. Washington, D.C: National Academies Press, 2006.
- Nord M. Food Security in the United States: Hunger and Food Security : USDA's revised labels describe ranges of food security <a href="http://www.ers.usda.gov/Briefing/FoodSecurity/labels.htm">http://www.ers.usda.gov/Briefing/FoodSecurity/labels.htm</a>>. Accessed July/12. 2007.
- 27. Darmon N, Darmon M, Maillot M, Drewnowski A. A nutrient density standard for vegetables and fruits: Nutrients per calorie and nutrients per unit cost. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005; 105(12):1881-1887.
- 28. Drewnowski A, Almiron-Roig E, Marmonier C, Lluch A. Dietary energy density and body weight: Is there a relationship?. Nutr Rev. 2004; 62(11):403-413.
- 29. U.S. Census Bureau. Current Population Survey. 2005

- 30. Drewnowski A, Rolls BJ. How to modify the food environment. J Nutr. 2005; 135(4):898-899.
- 31. Olson CM. Nutrition and health outcomes associated with food insecurity and hunger. J Nutr. 1999; 129(2S Suppl):521S-524S.
- 32. Laraia BA, Siega-Riz AM, Gundersen C, Dole N. Psychosocial factors and socioeconomic indicators are associated with household food insecurity among pregnant women. J Nutr. 2006; 136(1):177-182.
- 33. Drewnowski A, Darmon N. The economics of obesity: Dietary energy density and energy cost. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005; 82(1 Suppl):265S-273S.
- 34. Rose D, Oliveira V. Nutrient intakes of individuals from food-insufficient households in the united states. Am J Public Health. 1997; 87(12):1956-1961.
- 35. Tarasuk VS, Beaton GH. Women's dietary intakes in the context of household food insecurity. J Nutr. 1999; 129(3):672-679.
- Dixon LB, Winkleby MA, Radimer KL. Dietary intakes and serum nutrients differ between adults from food-insufficient and food-sufficient families: Third national health and nutrition examination survey, 1988-1994. J Nutr. 2001; 131(4):1232-1246.
- 37. Hamelin A, Beaudry M, Habicht J. Characterization of household food insecurity in québec: Food and feelings. Social Science & Medicine. 2002/1; 54(1):119-132.
- 38. Radimer KL, Harvey PW, Green A, Orrell E. Compliance with dietary goals in a queensland community. Aust J Public Health. 1992; 16(3):277-281.
- George GC, Hanss-Nuss H, Milani TJ, Freeland-Graves JH. Food choices of lowincome women during pregnancy and postpartum. J Am Diet Assoc. 2005; 105(6):899-907.
- 40. McIntyre L, Glanville NT, Raine KD, Dayle JB, Anderson B, Battaglia N. Do lowincome lone mothers compromise their nutrition to feed their children? CMAJ Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2003; 168(6):686-691.

- Anonymous Pediatric Nutrition Surveillance System (PedNSS), Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) http://www.cdc.gov/pednss/pnss\_tables/.
- 42. Biros MH, Hoffman PL, Resch K. The prevalence and perceived health consequences of hunger in emergency department patient populations. Acad Emerg Med. 2005; 12(4):310-317.
- 43. Nelson K, Brown ME, Lurie N. Hunger in an adult patient population. JAMA. 1998; 279(15):1211-1214.
- 44. Nelson K, Cunningham W, Andersen R, Harrison G, Gelberg L. Is food insufficiency associated with health status and health care utilization among adults with diabetes? J Gen Intern Med. 2001; 16(6):404-411.
- Pheley AM, Holben DH, Graham AS, Simpson C. Food security and perceptions of health status: A preliminary study in rural appalachia. J Rural Health. 2002; 18(3):447-454.
- 46. Siefert K, Heflin CM, Corcoran ME, Williams DR. Food insufficiency and the physical and mental health of low-income women. Women Health. 2001; 32(1-2):159-177.
- 47. Stuff JE, Casey PH, Szeto KL, et al. Household food insecurity is associated with adult health status. J Nutr. 2004; 134(9):2330-2335.
- 48. Bove CF, Olson CM. Obesity in low-income rural women: Qualitative insights about physical activity and eating patterns. Women Health. 2006; 44(1):57-78.
- 49. Townsend MS, Peerson J, Love B, Achterberg C, Murphy SP. Food insecurity is positively related to overweight in women. J Nutr. 2001; 131(6):1738-1745.
- 50. Adams EJ, Grummer-Strawn L, Chavez G. Food insecurity is associated with increased risk of obesity in California women. J Nutr. 2003; 133(4):1070-1074.
- 51. Laraia BA, Siega-Riz AM, Evenson KR. Self-reported overweight and obesity are not associated with concern about enough food among adults in New York and

Louisiana. Prev Med. 2004; 38(2):175-181.

- 52. Drewnowski A, Specter SE. Poverty and obesity: The role of energy density and energy costs. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004; 79(1):6-16.
- 53. Drewnowski A, Darmon N, Briend A. Replacing fats and sweets with vegetables and fruits--a question of cost. Am J Public Health. 2004; 94(9):1555-1559.
- 54. Casey P, Goolsby S, Berkowitz C, et al. Maternal depression, changing public assistance, food security, and child health status. Pediatrics. 2004; 113(2):298-304.
- 55. Wehler C, Weinreb LF, Huntington N, et al. Risk and protective factors for adult and child hunger among low-income housed and homeless female-headed families. Am J Public Health. 2004; 94(1):109-115.
- Peacock JL, Bland JM, Anderson HR. Preterm delivery: Effects of socioeconomic factors, psychological stress, smoking, alcohol, and caffeine. BMJ. 1995; 311(7004):531-535.
- 57. Pollack HA, Danziger S, Jayakody R, Seefeldt KS. Drug testing welfare recipientsfalse positives, false negatives, unanticipated opportunities. Women's Health Issues. 2002; 12(1):23-31.
- 58. Whitaker RC, Phillips SM, Orzol SM. Food insecurity and the risks of depression and anxiety in mothers and behavior problems in their preschool-aged children. Pediatrics. 2006; 118(3):e859-68.
- 59. Eberhard-Gran M, Eskild A, Opjordsmoen S. Treating mood disorders during pregnancy: Safety considerations. Drug Safety. 2005; 28(8):695-706.
- 60. Carmichael SL, Shaw GM, Schaffer DM, Laurent C, Selvin S. Dieting behaviors and risk of neural tube defects. Am J Epidemiol. 2003; 158(12):1127-1131.
- 61. Werler MM, Hayes C, Louik C, Shapiro S, Mitchell AA. Multivitamin supplementation and risk of birth defects. Am J Epidemiol. 1999; 150(7):675-682.

- 62. Werler MM, Shapiro S, Mitchell AA. Periconceptional folic acid exposure and risk of occurrent neural tube defects. JAMA. 1993; 269(10):1257-1261.
- 63. Aquilino ML, Losch ME. Across the fertility lifespan: Desire for pregnancy at conception. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs. 2005; 30(4):256-262.
- 64. Carmichael SL, Yang W, Herring A, Abrams B, Shaw GM. Maternal food insecurity is associated with increased risk of certain birth defects. J Nutr. 2007; 137(9):2087-2092.
- 65. Harding J. The nutritional basis of the fetal origins of adult disease. Int J Epidemiol. 2001; 30(1):15-23.
- 66. National Center for Health Statistics. Vital statistics of the United States. life tables. (PHS) 81-1104, etc.
- 67. Hamilton BR, Martin AJ, et al. Births: Final data for 2005. National Vital Statistics Reports. 2007; 56(6).
- 68. Spellacy WN, Miller S, Winegar A, Peterson PQ. Macrosomia--maternal characteristics and infant complications. Obstet Gynecol. 1985; 66(2):158-161.
- 69. Xue F, Willett WC, Rosner BA, Forman MR, Michels KB. Parental characteristics as predictors of birthweight. Hum Reprod. 2008; 23(1):168-177.
- 70. Boney CM, Verma A, Tucker R, Vohr BR. Metabolic syndrome in childhood: Association with birth weight, maternal obesity, and gestational diabetes mellitus. Pediatrics. 2005; 115(3):e290-6.
- 71. Whitaker RC, Dietz WH. Role of the prenatal environment in the development of obesity. J Pediatr. 1998; 132(5):768-776.
- 72. Whitaker RC, Pepe MS, Seidel KD, Wright JA, Knopp RH. Gestational diabetes and the risk of offspring obesity. Pediatrics. 1998; 101(2):E9.
- 73. Shenkin SD, Starr JM, Pattie A, Rush MA, Whalley LJ, Deary IJ. Birth weight and cognitive function at age 11 years: The scottish mental survey 1932. Arch Dis Child.

2001; 85(3):189-196.

- Rantakallio P, von Wendt L. Prognosis for low-birthweight infants up to the age of 14: A population study. Dev Med Child Neurol. 1985; 27(5):655-663.
- 75. Rantakallio P, von Wendt L. Risk factors for mental retardation. Arch Dis Child. 1985; 60(10):946-952.
- Richards M, Hardy R, Kuh D, Wadsworth ME. Birth weight and cognitive function in the British 1946 birth cohort: Longitudinal population based study. BMJ. 2001; 322(7280):199-203.
- 77. Matte TD, Bresnahan M, Begg MD, Susser E. Influence of variation in birth weight within normal range and within sibships on IQ at age 7 years: Cohort study. BMJ. 2001; 323(7308):310-314.
- Marlow N, D'Souza SW, Chiswick ML. Neurodevelopmental outcome in babies weighing less than 2001 g at birth. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1987; 294(6587):1582-1586.
- 79. Powls A, Botting N, Cooke RW, Marlow N. Motor impairment in children 12 to 13 years old with a birthweight of less than 1250 g. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1995; 73(2):F62-6.
- Erikson C, Allert C, Carlberg EB, Katz-Salamon M. Stability of longitudinal motor development in very low birthweight infants from 5 months to 5.5 years. Acta Paediatr. 2003; 92(2):197-203.
- 81. Yliherva A, Olsen P, Maki-Torkko E, Koiranen M, Jarvelin MR. Linguistic and motor abilities of low-birthweight children as assessed by parents and teachers at 8 years of age. Acta Paediatr. 2001; 90(12):1440-1449.
- 82. Cooke RW. Are there critical periods for brain growth in children born preterm? Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2006; 91(1):F17-20.
- 83. Evensen KA, Vik T, Helbostad J, Indredavik MS, Kulseng S, Brubakk AM. Motor skills in adolescents with low birth weight. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2004;

89(5):F451-5.

- 84. Lopuhaa CE, Roseboom TJ, Osmond C, et al. Atopy, lung function, and obstructive airways disease after prenatal exposure to famine. Thorax. 2000; 55(7):555-561.
- 85. Shaheen S, Barker DJ. Early lung growth and chronic airflow obstruction. Thorax. 1994; 49(6):533-536.
- 86. Shaheen SO, Barker DJ, Shiell AW, Crocker FJ, Wield GA, Holgate ST. The relationship between pneumonia in early childhood and impaired lung function in late adult life. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1994; 149(3 Pt 1):616-619.
- Meberg A, Broch H. A changing pattern of cerebral palsy. declining trend for incidence of cerebral palsy in the 20-year period 1970-89. J Perinat Med. 1995; 23(5):395-402.
- Pharoah PO, Cooke T, Johnson MA, King R, Mutch L. Epidemiology of cerebral palsy in England and Scotland, 1984-9. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 1998; 79(1):F21-5.
- 89. Petridou E, Koussouri M, Toupadaki N, et al. Risk factors for cerebral palsy: A casecontrol study in Greece. Scand J Soc Med. 1996; 24(1):14-26.
- 90. Walstab JE, Bell RJ, Reddihough DS, Brennecke SP, Bessell CK, Beischer NA. Factors identified during the neonatal period associated with risk of cerebral palsy. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2004; 44(4):342-346.
- 91. Newman RD, Grupp-Phelan J, Shay DK, Davis RL. Perinatal risk factors for infant hospitalization with viral gastroenteritis. Pediatrics. 1999; 103(1):E3.
- 92. Nachman SA, Navaie-Waliser M, Qureshi MZ. Rehospitalization with respiratory syncytial virus after neonatal intensive care unit discharge: A 3-year follow-up. Pediatrics. 1997; 100(6):E8.
- 93. Morris SS, Victora CG, Barros FC, et al. Length and ponderal index at birth: Associations with mortality, hospitalizations, development and post-natal growth in Brazilian infants. Int J Epidemiol. 1998; 27(2):242-247.

- Nold JL, Georgieff MK. Infants of diabetic mothers. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2004; 51(3):619-637.
- 95. Dabelea D, Hanson RL, Lindsay RS, et al. Intrauterine exposure to diabetes conveys risks for type 2 diabetes and obesity: A study of discordant sibships. Diabetes. 2000; 49(12):2208-2211.
- 96. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. Relationship of childhood obesity to coronary heart disease risk factors in adulthood: The Bogalusa heart study. Pediatrics. 2001 Sep; 108(3):712-718.
- 97. Srinivasan SR, Myers L, Berenson GS. Predictability of childhood adiposity and insulin for developing insulin resistance syndrome (syndrome X) in young adulthood: The Bogalusa heart study. Diabetes. 2002 Jan; 51(1):204-209.
- 98. Ebbeling CB, Pawlak DB, Ludwig DS. Childhood obesity: Public-health crisis, common sense cure. Lancet. 2002 Aug 10; 360(9331):473-482.
- 99. Henriksen T. The macrosomic fetus: A challenge in current obstetrics. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2008; 87(2):134-145.
- 100.Boyd ME, Usher RH, McLean FH. Fetal macrosomia: Prediction, risks, proposed management. Obstet Gynecol. 1983; 61(6):715-722.
- 101.Huang DY, Usher RH, Kramer MS, Yang H, Morin L, Fretts RC. Determinants of unexplained antepartum fetal deaths. Obstet Gynecol. 2000; 95(2):215-221.
- 102.Gillean JR, Coonrod DV, Russ R, Bay RC. Big infants in the neonatal intensive care unit. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 192(6):1948-53; discussion 1953-5.
- 103.Rogers I, EURO-BLCS Study Group. The influence of birthweight and intrauterine environment on adiposity and fat distribution in later life. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2003; 27(7):755-777.
- 104.Danielzik S, Czerwinski-Mast M, Langnase K, Dilba B, Muller MJ. Parental overweight, socioeconomic status and high birth weight are the major determinants of overweight and obesity in 5-7 y-old children: Baseline data of the kiel obesity prevention study (KOPS). International Journal of Obesity & Related Metabolic

Disorders: Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2004; 28(11):1494-1502.

- 105.Gillman MW, Rifas-Shiman S, Berkey CS, Field AE, Colditz GA. Maternal gestational diabetes, birth weight, and adolescent obesity. Pediatrics. 2003; 111(3):e221-6.
- 106.Sin DD, Spier S, Svenson LW, et al. The relationship between birth weight and childhood asthma: A population-based cohort study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2004; 158(1):60-64.
- 107. Hales CN. Fetal and infant origins of adult disease. J Clin Pathol. 1997; 50(5):359.
- 108.Law CM, Barker DJ, Osmond C, Fall CH, Simmonds SJ. Early growth and abdominal fatness in adult life. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1992; 46(3):184-186.
- 109.Barker DJ. Fetal growth and adult disease. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. 1992; 99(4):275-276.
- 110.Simmons R. Developmental origins of adult metabolic disease: Concepts and controversies. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2005; 16(8):390-394.
- 111.Barker DJ. The developmental origins of adult disease. J Am Coll Nutr. 2004; 23(6 Suppl):588S-595S.
- 112. Oken E, Gillman MW. Fetal origins of obesity. Obes Res. 2003; 11(4):496-506.
- 113.Hales CN, Barker DJ. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: The thrifty phenotype hypothesis. Diabetologia. 1992; 35(7):595-601.
- 114.Stein AD, Ravelli AC, Lumey LH. Famine, third-trimester pregnancy weight gain, and intrauterine growth: The Dutch famine birth cohort study. Hum Biol. 1995; 67(1):135-150.
- 115.Harder T, Rodekamp E, Schellong K, Dudenhausen JW, Plagemann A. Birth weight and subsequent risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol. 2007;

165(8):849-857.

- 116.Barker DJ, Godfrey KM, Fall C, Osmond C, Winter PD, Shaheen SO. Relation of birth weight and childhood respiratory infection to adult lung function and death from chronic obstructive airways disease. BMJ. 1991; 303(6804):671-675.
- 117.Robinson S, Walton RJ, Clark PM, Barker DJ, Hales CN, Osmond C. The relation of fetal growth to plasma glucose in young men. Diabetologia. 1992; 35(5):444-446.
- 118.Barker DJ, Hales CN, Fall CH, Osmond C, Phipps K, Clark PM. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus, hypertension and hyperlipidaemia (syndrome X): Relation to reduced fetal growth. Diabetologia. 1993; 36(1):62-67.
- 119.Barker DJ. The effect of nutrition of the fetus and neonate on cardiovascular disease in adult life. Proc Nutr Soc. 1992; 51(2):135-144.
- 120.Barker DJ. The fetal origins of adult hypertension. J Hypertens Suppl. 1992; 10(7):S39-44.
- 121.Ekbom A, Trichopoulos D, Adami HO, Hsieh CC, Lan SJ. Evidence of prenatal influences on breast cancer risk. Lancet. 1992; 340(8826):1015-1018.
- 122.Ahlgren M, Sorensen T, Wohlfahrt J, Haflidadottir A, Holst C, Melbye M. Birth weight and risk of breast cancer in a cohort of 106,504 women. Int J Cancer. 2003; 107(6):997-1000.
- 123.Depue RH, Pike MC, Henderson BE. Estrogen exposure during gestation and risk of testicular cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1983; 71(6):1151-1155.
- 124.English PB, Goldberg DE, Wolff C, Smith D. Parental and birth characteristics in relation to testicular cancer risk among males born between 1960 and 1995 in California (united states). Cancer Causes Control. 2003; 14(9):815-825.
- 125. Tibblin G, Eriksson M, Cnattingius S, Ekbom A. High birthweight as a predictor of prostate cancer risk. Epidemiology. 1995; 6(4):423-424.

- 126.Nilsen TI, Romundstad PR, Troisi R, Vatten LJ. Birth size and subsequent risk for prostate cancer: A prospective population-based study in Norway. Int J Cancer. 2005; 113(6):1002-1004.
- 127.Peeters A. Barendregt JJ. Willekens F. Mackenbach JP. Al Mamun A. Bonneux L. NEDCOM, the Netherlands Epidemiology and Demography Compression of Morbidity Research Group. Obesity in adulthood and its consequences for life expectancy: A life-table analysis.[summary for patients in ann intern med. 2003 jan 7;138(1):144; PMID: 12513064]. Ann Intern Med. 2003 Jan 7; 138(1):24-32.
- 128.Roseboom TJ, Van Der Meulen JH, Ravelli AC, Osmond C, Barker DJ, Bleker OP. Perceived health of adults after prenatal exposure to the Dutch famine. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol. 2003; 17(4):391-397.
- 129. Yada KK, Gupta R, Gupta A, Gupta M. Insulin levels in low birth weight neonates. Indian J Med Res. 2003; 118:197-203.
- 130.Catalano PM, Kirwan JP, Haugel-de Mouzon S, King J. Gestational diabetes and insulin resistance: Role in short- and long-term implications for mother and fetus. J Nutr. 2003; 133(5 Suppl 2):1674S-1683S.
- 131.Scholl TO, Chen X, Gaughan C, Smith WK. Influence of maternal glucose level on ethnic differences in birth weight and pregnancy outcome. Am J Epidemiol. 2002; 156(6):498-506.
- 132.Knopp RH. Hormone-mediated changes in nutrient metabolism in pregnancy: A physiological basis for normal fetal development. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1997; 817:251-271.
- 133.Farmer G, Russell G, Hamilton-Nicol DR, et al. The influence of maternal glucose metabolism on fetal growth, development and morbidity in 917 singleton pregnancies in nondiabetic women. Diabetologia. 1988; 31(3):134-141.
- 134.Kieffer EC, Nolan GH, Carman WJ, Sanborn CZ, Guzman R, Ventura A. Glucose tolerance during pregnancy and birth weight in a Hispanic population. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1999; 94(5 Pt 1):741-746.
- 135.Scholl TO, Sowers M, Chen X, Lenders C. Maternal glucose concentration influences fetal growth, gestation, and pregnancy complications. Am J Epidemiol.

2001; 154(6):514-520.

- 136.Parretti E, Mecacci F, Papini M, et al. Third-trimester maternal glucose levels from diurnal profiles in nondiabetic pregnancies: Correlation with sonographic parameters of fetal growth. Diabetes Care. 2001; 24(8):1319-1323.
- 137. Whitaker RC. Predicting preschooler obesity at birth: The role of maternal obesity in early pregnancy. Pediatrics. 2004; 114(1):e29-36.
- 138.Stein Z, Susser M. The Dutch famine, 1944-1945, and the reproductive process. II. interrelations of caloric rations and six indices at birth. Pediatr Res. 1975; 9(2):76-83.
- 139.Cogswell ME, Serdula MK, Hungerford DW, Yip R. Gestational weight gain among average-weight and overweight women what is excessive? American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 1995; 172(2, Part 1):705-712.
- 140.Little RE. Moderate alcohol use during pregnancy and decreased infant birth weight. Am J Public Health. 1977; 67(12):1154-1156.
- 141.Fuddy LJ, Prince CB, Tang MC. Perinatal substance use among high risk women in Hawaii: Patterns and impact on pregnancy outcomes. Asian American and Pacific Islander Journal of Health. 2003; 10(1):50-57.
- 142.Pollack H, Lantz PM, Frohna JG. Maternal smoking and adverse birth outcomes among singletons and twins. Am J Public Health. 2000; 90(3):395-400.
- 143.von Kries R, Toschke AM, Koletzko B, Slikker W,Jr. Maternal smoking during pregnancy and childhood obesity. Am J Epidemiol. 2002; 156(10):954-961.
- 144.Montgomery SM, Ekbom A. Smoking during pregnancy and diabetes mellitus in a British longitudinal birth cohort. BMJ. 2002; 324(7328):26-27.
- 145.England LJ, Kendrick JS, Gargiullo PM, Zahniser SC, Hannon WH. Measures of maternal tobacco exposure and infant birth weight at term. Am J Epidemiol. 2001; 153(10):954-960.

- 146.Okah FA, Cai J, Hoff GL. Term-gestation low birth weight and health-compromising behaviors during pregnancy. Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 105(3):543-550.
- 147.Abell TD, Baker LC, Ramsey CN, Jr. The effects of maternal smoking on infant birth weight. Fam Med. 1991; 23(2):103-107.
- 148. Wadhwa PD, Culhane JF, Rauh V, Barve SS. Stress and preterm birth: Neuroendocrine, immune/inflammatory, and vascular mechanisms. Maternal & Child Health Journal. 2001; 5(2):119-125.
- 149.Copper RL, Goldenberg RL, Das A, et al. The preterm prediction study: Maternal stress is associated with spontaneous preterm birth at less than thirty-five weeks' gestation. national institute of child health and human development maternal-fetal medicine units network. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1996; 175(5):1286-1292.
- 150.Collins JW, Jr, Butler AG. Racial differences in the prevalence of small-for-dates infants among college-educated women. Epidemiology. 1997; 8(3):315-317.
- 151.Goldenberg RL, Cliver SP, Mulvihill FX, et al. Medical, psychosocial, and behavioral risk factors do not explain the increased risk for low birth weight among black women. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1996; 175(5):1317-1324.
- 152.Hulsey TC, Levkoff AH, Alexander GR. Birth weights of infants of black and white mothers without pregnancy complications. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1991; 164(5 Pt 1):1299-1302.
- 153.Kramer MS. Socioeconomic determinants of intrauterine growth retardation. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1998; 52(Suppl 1):S29-32.
- 154. Amin N, Abel R, Sampathkumar V. Maternal risk factors associated with low birth weight. Indian J Pediatr. 1993; 60(2):269-274.
- 155.Abel EL, Kruger M, Burd L. Effects of maternal and paternal age on Caucasian and native American preterm births and birth weights. Am J Perinatol. 2002; 19(1):49-54.

- 156.Morrison J, Williams GM, Najman JM, Andersen MJ. The influence of paternal height and weight on birth-weight. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 1991; 31(2):114-116.
- 157.PARKER B, McFARLANE J, SOEKEN K. Abuse during pregnancy: Effects on maternal complications and birth weight in adult and teenage women. Obstet Gynecol. 1994; 84(3):323-328.
- 158. Arif MA, Qureshi AH, Jafarey SN, Alam SE, Arif K. Maternal sociocultural status: A novel assessment of risk for the birth of small for gestational age, low birth weight infants. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 1998; 24(3):215-222.
- 159. Anonymous California Department of Public Health, State of California; http://www.cdph.ca.gov/Pages/default.aspx .
- 160.Nord, Mark. Andrews, Margaret S.Carlson, Steven. Household Food Security in the United States,
  2006, U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, Washington, DC. United States; Dept. of Agriculture; Economic Research Service, 2006.
- 161.Bickel GW, Nord M, Prince CB, Hamilton WL, Cook J. *Guide to Measuring Household Food Security*. United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). Nutrition and Nutrition Service, Office of Analysis, Nutrition, and Evaluation. 2000.
- 162.Blumberg SJ, Bialostosky K, Hamilton WL, Briefel RR. The effectiveness of a short form of the household food security scale. Am J Public Health. 1999; 89(8):1231-1234.
- 163.National Research Council (U.S.), Panel to Review U.S. Department of Agriculture's Measurement of Food Insecurity and Hunger. Measuring Food Insecurity and Hunger : Phase 1 Report. Washington, D.C: National Academies Press, 2005.
- 164. Alexander GR, Slay Wingate M, Salihu H, Kirby RS. Fetal and neonatal mortality risks of multiple births. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2005; 32(1):1-16, vii.
- 165.Pediatric and Pregnancy Nutrition Surveillance System, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Department of Human Services. Maternal Health Indicators; Prepregnancy BMI

http://www.cdc.gov/pednss/what\_is/pnss\_health\_indicators.htm Accessed June 25. 2005.

- 166. Voigt M, Heineck G, Hesse V. The relationship between maternal characteristics, birth weight and pre-term delivery: Evidence from Germany at the end of the 20th century. Economics & Human Biology. 2004; 2(2):265-280.
- 167.Herrmann TS, Siega-Riz AM, Hobel CJ, Aurora C, Dunkel-Schetter C. Prolonged periods without food intake during pregnancy increase risk for elevated maternal corticotropin-releasing hormone concentrations. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2001; 185(2):403-412.
- 168.Bartlett, S, Bobronnikov, E, Mendelson, M, et al., WIC Participants and Program Characteristics, 2006. Alexandria, VA: USDA, Food and Nutrition Services, 2007.
- 169.Bitler M, Gundersen C, Marquis GS. Are WIC nonrecipients at less nutritional risk than recipients? an application of the food security measure\*. Review of Agricultural Economics. 2005; 27(3):433-438.
- 170.Frost JJ, Oslack S. Teenagers' Pregnancy Intentions and Decisions: A Study of Young Women in California Choosing to Give Birth. The Alan Guttmacher Institute, 1999.

Appendix A: MIHA Survey Questionnaire

2005

# MIHA

Maternal and Infant Health Assessment

# "For healthier mothers and babies"

Survey Research Center • University of California at Berkeley

- Please try to answer each question.
- Most questions are answered by checking a box or writing a number or a few words on a line.
- Never check more than one box, except where it says "Check all that apply."
- Sometimes we ask you to skip a question. An arrow will tell you what question to answer next, like this:

 $\delta$  Yes  $\longrightarrow$  Skip to question 1 O No

- If none of the boxes is just right for you, please check the one that fits you the best. If you can, write us a note telling us more.
- If you need help with the survey or want to do it by telephone, call **Toni Clark toll-free** at 1-800-342-9229.

The last page of the survey asks for your mailing address so we can send you a check for **\$10** to say "thank you." Be sure to fill it out. Then please mail this survey back to us in the enclosed envelope. No stamps are needed.

## Please read this before starting.

- It's your choice whether or not to do the survey.
- Your answers will be kept confidential.
- Whether or not you answer the survey questions will not affect your health care
  or any benefits you may get.
- You can skip questions you don't want to answer.
- If you have any questions, call Toni Clark toll-free at 1-800-342-9229.

Thank you!

### INTRODUCTION

1. What is today's date?

month date year

2. When was your most recent baby born?

month	date	year

We call this birth your MOST RECENT BIRTH or PREGNANCY.

- Not counting your most recent birth, did you ever have a baby that weighed less than 5 pounds, 8 ounces (2½ kilos) at birth?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes

\_

- <sup>2</sup>O No
- 4. Not counting your most recent birth, did you ever have a baby that was born prematurely (before you reached 37 weeks of pregnancy)?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 5. Before you got pregnant for this recent birth, did a doctor/nurse ever tell you that you had high blood pressure (hypertension)?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 6. Just before you got pregnant for your most recent birth, did you have a particular doctor, nurse, or clinic that you usually went to if you wanted health care?

<sup>1</sup>O Yes

7. Just bei multivit	<b>fore you got pregnant</b> , were you taking amins or folic acid?				
<sup>1</sup> O Ye ev	es, I took them every day or almost ery day				
<sup>2</sup> O Ye	es, I took them sometimes				
<sup>3</sup> O No ac	o, I never took multivitamins or folic id just before I got pregnant				
8. A. Just did y	t <b>before you got pregnant</b> , how much you weigh?				
	pounds OR kilos				
B. How duri	v many pounds or kilos did you gain ing your most recent pregnancy?				
	pounds OR kilos				
9. How tal	l are you without shoes?				
_	feet andinches				
OR_	meters andcentimeters				
10. A. How you	v would you rate your health <b>just <u>before</u> got pregnant</b> ?				
<sup>1</sup> O	Excellent				
<sup>2</sup> O	Good				
<sup>3</sup> O	Fair				
⁴O	Poor				
B. How your	v would you rate your health <u>during</u> r most recent pregnancy?				
<sup>1</sup> <b>O</b>	Excellent				
<sup>2</sup> O	Good				
<sup>3</sup> O	Fair				
⁴O	Poor				
		2			

11. About how many weeks or months pregnant were you when you were sure that you were pregnant? (For example, you used a home pregnancy test, a doctor or nurse said you were pregnant, or you just knew for sure)				
week(s) OR	mont	h(s)		
12. Did you have any of these her during your most recent pregr	alth proble nancy?	ems		
	Yes, I had that <u>problem</u>	No, I didn't have that <u>problem</u>		
A. Labor pains more than 3 weeks before your baby was due (preterm or early labor)	<sup>1</sup> 0	<sup>2</sup> O		
B. Water broke more than 3 weeks before your baby was due (premature rupture of membranes)	0	0		
C. High blood pressure	0	0		
D. Pre-eclampsia, eclampsia or to <b>x</b> emia	0	0		
E. High blood sugar (diabetes)	) 0	0		
F. Problems with the placenta (like abruptio placenta, placenta previa, low-lying placenta)	0	0		
G. Cervix had to be sewn shut (cerclage, incompetent cervix)	0	о		
H. Kidney or bladder (urinary tract) infection	0	0		
I. You were injured in a car accident	0	0		
J. Other health problem (Please tell us:	0	o )		

13. Here is a list of some problems women may have with their teeth or mouth. For each one, please tell us if you had that problem during your most recent pregnancy.

		Yes, I had that <u>problem</u>	No, I didn't have that <u>problem</u>
А.	I had a toothache	<sup>1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> O
Β.	I had a loose tooth	0	0
C.	My gums bled a lot	0	0
D.	I had painful, red or swollen gums	0	0
E.	I had cavities that needed to be filled	0	0
F.	I had to have a tooth pulled	0	0
G.	Other (Please tell us:	0	0

- 14. During your most recent pregnancy, did you visit a dentist or dental clinic?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes → Skip to question 16 on next page
  - <sup>2</sup>O No



- 15. What was the MAIN reason you did <u>not</u> go to a dentist or dental clinic? (Please check only one.)
  - <sup>1</sup>O I didn't need to go
  - <sup>2</sup>O I didn't think of it
  - <sup>3</sup>O I didn't have dental insurance, or it cost too much
  - <sup>4</sup>O I don't like going to the dentist
  - <sup>5</sup>O I was too busy
  - <sup>6</sup>O My doctor or nurse told me not to go to the dentist during pregnancy
  - <sup>7</sup>O Someone in my dentist's office told me to wait until after my pregnancy
  - <sup>8</sup>O I read or heard somewhere else that it wasn't safe to go to the dentist during pregnancy
  - <sup>9</sup>O Other (Please tell us:
- 16. A. When you got pregnant, were you using any birth control method to prevent pregnancy – like birth control pills, condoms, shots, rhythm, withdrawal, or some other method?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes, all the time → Skip to question 18 on next page
  - <sup>2</sup>O Yes, sometimes
  - <sup>3</sup>O No
  - B. If you weren't using birth control all the time, was that because you wanted to get pregnant or was there some other reason?
    - <sup>1</sup>O I wanted to get pregnant → Skip to question 18 on next page
    - <sup>2</sup>O Some other reason

17. Here is a list of reasons why a woman might not always use a birth control method to prevent pregnancy. For each one, please tell us if it was a reason for you.

	Yes,	No,
	it was	it wasn't
	a reason	a reason
. I didn't think I was going to have se <b>x</b>	<sup>1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> O
. I didn't think I could get pregnant	0	0
. I ran out of the birth contro method I was using	1	0
Levelde's ester	0	0
appointment to get birth control when I needed it	0	о
. I didn't want to have the side effects that birth control can cause	0	0
I was afraid birth control was bad for my health	0	0
. My husband or partner did not want to use birth contro	o <sup>1</sup> o	0
I. I couldn't afford to pay for birth control or my	Ū.	0
insurance wouldn't cover it	0	0
religion	0	0
No special reason, I just didn't	0	0
Some other reason	0	
(Please tell us:		

Now, we have a few questions about prenatal care. By "prenatal care," we mean health care for pregnancy.

- Did you get <u>any</u> prenatal care during your most recent pregnancy? (Please do not count a visit just for a pregnancy test.)
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 19. A. About how many weeks or months pregnant were you when you <u>first tried</u> to make an appointment to get prenatal care? (Please do not count an appointment just for a pregnancy test.)

weeks OR \_\_\_\_\_ months

- <sup>x</sup>O I never tried to make a prenatal care appointment
- B. And how many weeks or months pregnant were you when you <u>had</u> your first prenatal care visit? (Please do not count a visit just for a pregnancy test.)

weeks OR \_\_\_\_ months

- <sup>x</sup>O I never had prenatal care
- 20. A. Did you get prenatal care as early in your pregnancy as you wanted?

<sup>1</sup>O Yes

<sup>2</sup>O No

<sup>3</sup>O I did not want prenatal care

- B. Overall, how important do you think it was to the people closest to you that you got prenatal care during your most recent pregnancy?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Very important
  - <sup>2</sup>O Somewhat important
  - <sup>3</sup>O Not too important
  - <sup>4</sup>O Not at all important
  - <sup>5</sup>O I'm not sure
- Here is a list of problems some women can have getting prenatal care. For each one, please tell us if it was a problem for you.

	Yes,	No,
	it was	it wasn't
	<u>a problem</u>	<u>a problem</u>
A. I didn't know I could get Medi-Cal for prenatal ca	<sup>ire 1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> O
B. I had problems finding a place that would accept my insurance or Medi-C	al O	о
C. I didn't know where to g for prenatal care	° ···· 0	о
D. I had problems getting through on the phone to make an appointment	o	о
E. I had problems getting a appointment at a time or date that was good for m	n ne O	о
F. I had no way to get to th clinic or office	e 	0
G. There was no one to take care of my children	···· 0	0
H. I had too many other problems to deal with		0
I. Any other problems getting prenatal care?		0
	0	0

(Please tell us: \_\_\_\_\_

- 22. During any of your prenatal care visits, did a doctor, nurse or other health care worker talk with you about how HIV (the virus that causes AIDS) could affect a baby?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes

)

- <sup>2</sup>O No
- <sup>3</sup>O I never had prenatal care
- 23. A. At any time during your most recent pregnancy or delivery, did you have a test for HIV (the virus that causes AIDS)?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes  $\rightarrow$  Skip to question 24
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - <sup>3</sup>O I don't remember
  - B. Here are a few reasons why some women do not have an HIV test during their pregnancies. For each one, please tell us if it was a reason you did not have an HIV test during your most recent pregnancy.

	Yes,	No,
	it was	it wasn't
	<u>a reason</u>	<u>a reason</u>
a. I was not offered the test	<sup>1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> O
b. I did not think I had HIV	0	0
c. I had an HIV test before I was pregnant and did not think I needed another one	0	о
d. I wanted to have the test but had problems getting it done	0	0
e. I was not sure I wanted to know the result	0	0
f. Other (Please tell us:	0	0
		)

24. A.	Duri or m baby defec amni [CV	ng your pregnancy, did a doctor, nurse, idwife offer you a test to see if your might have a birth defect? (Birth et tests include Expanded AFP, iocentesis, chorionic villi sampling S], or another test.)
	<sup>1</sup> O	Yes
	$^{2}O$	No→Skip to question 26 on next page
	<sup>3</sup> O	I don't remember/I'm not sure
В.	And defe	, did you choose to have a test for birth ets?
	<sup>1</sup> 0	Yes
	<sup>2</sup> 0	$No \rightarrow Skip$ to question 25 below
C.	Wha Chee	t test did you have? ek all that apply.
	<sup>1</sup> 0	AFP or expanded AFP testing
	<sup>2</sup> 0	Amniocentesis (amnio)
	<sup>3</sup> O	Chorionic villus sampling (CVS)
	⁴O	NT, nuchal translucency
	٥	Other (Please tell us:
	6	)
	0	I wanted to have the test but had problems getting it done
	<sup>7</sup> 0	I'm not sure
—►N	low,	skip to question 26 on next page
25. Wh Che	y did eck a	you choose <u>not</u> to have a test? Il that apply.
٥°	Ιw	vas afraid it might hurt my baby
٥ď	I d	id not want to know the results
٥	My hav	y partner or family did not want me to ve a test
dO	Ιw	ould not do anything differently if I
	kne	ew my baby had a birth defect

<sup>e</sup>O Other (Please tell us: \_

Now, we have a few questions about your feelings and experiences just before or during your pregnancy.

- 26.A. Thinking back to just before you got pregnant, how did you feel about getting pregnant?
  - <sup>1</sup>O I wanted to get pregnant then → Skip to question 27
  - <sup>2</sup>O I wanted to get pregnant later
  - <sup>3</sup>O I didn't want to get pregnant then or in the future → Skip to question 27
  - <sup>4</sup>O I wasn't sure what I wanted → Skip to question 27
  - B. About how much longer did you want to wait until you became pregnant?
    - <sup>1</sup>O 1 to 12 months
    - <sup>2</sup>O 13 to 24 months (1 to 2 years)
    - <sup>3</sup>O 2 to 5 years
    - <sup>4</sup>O More than 5 years
    - <sup>5</sup>O I wasn't sure
- 27. And how did you feel when you found out you really <u>were</u> pregnant?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Very happy
  - <sup>2</sup>O Somewhat happy
  - <sup>3</sup>O Somewhat unhappy
  - <sup>4</sup>O Very unhappy

<sup>5</sup>O I wasn't sure how I felt

- 28. During your pregnancy, did you feel very blue, sad, or depressed for more than two weeks at a time?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 29. A. During your pregnancy, did a doctor, nurse or midwife ever ask you if you were feeling blue, sad, or depressed?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No  $\rightarrow$  Skip to question 30
  - <sup>3</sup>O Don't remember → Skip to question 30
  - B. During your pregnancy, did a doctor, nurse or midwife refer you to a counselor who helps people who are feeling blue, sad, or depressed ?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
    - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 30. A. During your pregnancy, did you have someone you could turn to if you needed practical help, like getting a ride somewhere, or help with shopping or cooking a meal?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - B. During your pregnancy, did you have someone you could turn to if you needed someone to comfort or listen to you?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes

<sup>2</sup>O No

31. Here are a few things that might happen to some
women during their pregnancies. Please tell us
if any of these things happened to you during
your most recent pregnancy.

			Yes	No
	Α.	A close family member was very sick and had to be		
	_	hospitalized	<sup>1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> 0
	В.	I got separated or divorced from my partner	0	0
	C.	I moved to a new address	0	0
	D.	I was homeless (for $example$ , had to sleep outside, in a car, or		
	Б	in a homeless shelter)	0	0
	E.	job	0	0
	F.	I lost my job even though I wanted to go on working	0	0
	G.	I argued with my husband or partner more than usual	0	0
	H.	My husband or partner said he didn't want me to be pregnant	0	0
	Ι.	I had a lot of bills I couldn't		
		рау	0	0
	J.	I was in a physical fight	0	0
	К.	My partner or I went to jail	0	0
	L.	a bad problem with drinking or		
		drugs	0	0
	М.	Someone very close to me died	0	0
32.	Du you erin	ring your most recent pregnancy 1 feel your neighborhood or hom- ne?	, how sa e was fro	fe did om
	<sup>1</sup> 0	Very safe		
	<sup>2</sup> 0	Somewhat safe		
	<sup>3</sup> O	Somewhat unsafe		

<sup>4</sup>O Very unsafe

The next questions are about relationships with intimate partners. By "partner" we mean *current* or *former* husband, partner, boyfriend or girlfriend. Please remember that all the information in this survey is completely confidential.

- 33. A. <u>During</u> your most recent pregnancy, were you ever frightened for the safety of yourself, your family, or your friends because of the anger or threats of your partner?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - B. <u>During</u> your most recent pregnancy, did your partner try to control most or all of your daily activities? For example, controlling who you talked to or where you could go.
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
    - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 34. A. <u>During</u> your most recent pregnancy, did your partner push, hit, slap, kick, choke, or physically hurt you in any way?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - B. In the 12 months <u>before</u> you got pregnant, did your partner push, hit, slap, kick, choke, or physically hurt you in any way?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
    - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 35. A. Have you smoked any cigarettes in the past 2 years?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - $^{2}O$  No  $\rightarrow$  Skip to question 36 on this page
  - B. During the *first* 3 months of your pregnancy, how many cigarettes or packs of cigarettes did you smoke on an average day? (A pack has 20 cigarettes.)

\_\_\_\_\_ cigarettes **OR** \_\_\_\_\_ packs

- <sup>1</sup>O Less than one cigarette a day
- <sup>2</sup>O I didn't smoke at all during the first 3 months of my pregnancy
- C. During the *last* 3 months of your pregnancy, how many cigarettes or packs of cigarettes did you smoke on an average day? (A pack has 20 cigarettes.)

\_\_\_\_\_ cigarettes OR \_\_\_\_\_ packs

- <sup>1</sup>O Less than one cigarette a day
- <sup>2</sup>O I didn't smoke at all during the last 3 months of my pregnancy

- 36. The next two questions are about drinking alcohol. By "alcohol" we mean any kind of drink with alcohol in it -- including beer, wine, wine cooler, hard liquor, or a mixed drink made with hard liquor.
  - A. During the *first* 3 months of your pregnancy, about how many drinks with alcohol did you have in an average week? A drink is one glass of wine, one wine cooler, one can or bottle of beer, one shot of liquor, or one mixed drink.
    - <sup>1</sup>O I didn't drink at all during the first 3 months of my pregnancy
    - <sup>2</sup>O Less than one drink per week
    - <sup>3</sup>O 1 to 3 per week
    - <sup>4</sup>O 4 to 6 per week
    - <sup>5</sup>O 7 or more drinks per week
  - B. During the *last* 3 months of your pregnancy, about how many drinks with alcohol did you have in an average week?
    - <sup>1</sup>O I didn't drink at all during the last 3 months of my pregnancy
    - <sup>2</sup>O Less than one drink per week
    - <sup>3</sup>O 1 to 3 per week
    - <sup>4</sup>O 4 to 6 per week
    - <sup>o</sup>O 7 or more drinks per week

Now, we have a few questions about your health insurance coverage during pregnancy.

37. During your most recent pregnancy, did you have Medi-Cal (or a health plan that Medi-Cal paid for)?

<sup>1</sup>O Yes

- $^{2}O$  No  $\rightarrow$  Skip to question 40 below
- 38. Did you have Medi-Cal (or a health plan that Medi-Cal paid for) <u>before</u> you got pregnant?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes → Skip to question 42 on next page
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 39. A. About how many weeks or months pregnant were you when you first applied for Medi-Cal?

weeks OR \_\_\_\_\_months

B. And about how many weeks or months pregnant were you when you knew that you had Medi-Cal (or a health plan that Medi-Cal paid for)?

weeks OR months



- 40. A. Did you ever try to apply for Medi-Cal during this pregnancy?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No → Skip to question 42 on next page
  - B. About how many weeks or months pregnant were you when you first *tried* to apply for Medi-Cal?

weeks OR \_\_\_\_\_ months

 Here is a list of some problems that people can have in applying for Medi-Cal. For each one, please tell us if it was a problem for you.

	Yes,	No,
	it was	it wasn't
	<u>a problem</u>	<u>a problem</u>
A. I didn't know how to apply or where to go	······ <sup>1</sup> 0	<sup>2</sup> O
B. It was hard to get thro on the phone to Medi- or a Medi-Cal worker	ugh Cal O	о
C. The people I spoke wi at Medi-Cal were rude not very helpful	th e or ······ O	о
D.I had no way to get to the Medi-Cal office	······ 0	о
E. It was hard to fill out t forms or get all the papers they wanted	he O	0
F. I was afraid I might ha to pay back Medi-Cal	<sup>later</sup> O	о
G.I was afraid applying a Medi-Cal could get in the way of becoming a permanent resident or citizen, or bringing family to the U.S.	for 0	о
H. Some other reason (Please tell us:	о	0

42. A. During your most recent pregnancy, were you covered by private insurance or some other health plan that paid for prenatal care? Please do <u>not</u> include Medi-Cal or a health plan paid for by Medi-Cal.

<sup>1</sup>O Yes

 $^{2}O$  No  $\longrightarrow$  Skip to question 43

- B. What was the name of that private insurance or health plan?
- C. Did that coverage start before or after you got pregnant?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Before → Skip to question 43
  - <sup>2</sup>O After
- D. About how many weeks or months pregnant were you when that coverage began?

weeks OR \_\_\_\_\_ months



- 43. Right now, are you covered by Medi-Cal, private insurance, or some other health plan for your own health care?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 44. A. Since your most recent birth, was there any time when you needed to see a doctor or nurse for your own medical care but didn't go because you couldn't afford to pay for it?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - B. Since your most recent birth, have <u>you</u> had a post-partum check-up (the medical check-up that is done about 6 weeks after a woman gives birth)?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
    - <sup>2</sup>O No

## THE REST OF THE SURVEY ASKS ABOUT YOUR MOST RECENT BIRTH.

(If you had twins or triplets, please answer these next questions about the baby that was born first.)

45. Is your baby alive now?



No Please accept our deepest sympathy.
When did your baby die?
(month) (day) (year)
Please skip to question 55 on page 13

- 46. A. Right now, is your baby covered by Medi-Cal, private insurance, or some other health plan for his/her health care?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No, my baby is uninsured → Skip to question 47 below
  - <sup>3</sup>O I don't know → Skip to question 47 below
  - B. What kind of coverage does your baby have?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Medi-Cal
    - <sup>2</sup>O A health plan paid for by Medi-Cal
    - <sup>3</sup>O Private insurance
    - <sup>4</sup>O Healthy Families
    - <sup>5</sup>O Other (**Please tell us:**\_\_\_\_\_

)

- C. About how many weeks or months old was your baby when his or her own Medi-Cal, private insurance, Healthy Families, or other coverage began?
  - <sup>x</sup>O His/her coverage began at birth

weeks OR \_\_\_\_\_ months

- 47. Since your new baby was born, was there any time when you needed health care <u>for your baby</u> but didn't get it because you couldn't afford to pay for it?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
- 17

48. Since y breast f	our new baby was born, have you ever ed him/her at all (even once)?
<sup>1</sup> 0 Y	es
<sup>2</sup> O N	$_{\circ} \rightarrow$ Skip to question 52
49. A. Wh wer	en your baby was two days old, how e you feeding him/her?
<sup>1</sup> O	Breast milk only
<sup>2</sup> O	Both breast milk and formula
<sup>3</sup> O	Formula only
B. Wh wer	en your baby was two months old, how e you feeding him/her?
<sup>1</sup> O	Breast milk only
<sup>2</sup> O	Mostly breast milk
<sup>3</sup> O	Formula only → Skip to question 51 below
⁴O	Mostly formula
٥	Other (Please tell us:)
50. A. Are	you still breast feeding your baby?
<sup>1</sup> O	Yes
<sup>2</sup> O	No 🕂 Skip to question 51 below
B. Hav	ve you ever given your baby formula, n once?
<sup>1</sup> O	Yes → Skip to question 52
<sup>2</sup> O	No $\longrightarrow$ Skip to question 53
51. How ol breast f	d was your baby when you stopped eeding him/her?

OR weeks OR months	52. Babies are given formula for different reasons. Why was your baby given formula for the <i>first</i> time? Check all that apply.
	<sup>a</sup> O I did not make enough milk
	<sup>b</sup> O I needed to go back to work or school
	<sup>c</sup> O Breast feeding was too painful for me
	<sup>d</sup> O I did not like breast feeding in public or breast feeding embarrassed me
	<sup>e</sup> O My baby did not breast feed well
	<sup>f</sup> O A doctor or nurse recommended using formula
	<sup>8</sup> O I wanted my partner or others to be able to feed the baby sometimes
	<sup>h</sup> O I thought formula would be easier or more convenient
	<sup>i</sup> O I wanted my baby to sleep longer at night
	<sup>j</sup> O Other ( <b>Please tell me</b> :
	)
	53. Before your baby was two months old, what food or drinks had he or she ever had, even once (other than breast milk or formula)? Check all that apply.
	<sup>a</sup> O Cereal
	<sup>b</sup> O Tea
	°O Juice
	<sup>d</sup> O Water, sugar water, or <u>plucose</u>
	<sup>e</sup> O Other foods or drinks ( <b>Please tell us</b> :
	)
	<sup>f</sup> O Nothing, my baby has only had breast milk or formula
	54. How do you put your new baby down to sleep most of the time? Check only one answer.

\_\_\_\_ days

<sup>1</sup>O On his/her side

19

I

- <sup>2</sup>O On his/her back
- <sup>3</sup>O On his/her stomach

## OTHER QUESTIONS

These next few questions give us a general idea of the different backgrounds of people who have taken part in this important survey. Again, please remember that we will not share any information you give us.

- 55. A. What ethnic or racial group(s) do you consider yourself? Check all that apply.
  - <sup>1</sup>O African-American, Black, or African
  - <sup>2</sup>O American Indian, Native American, Eskimo or Aleut
  - <sup>3</sup>O Asian, Asian-American or Pacific Islander (For example, Chinese, Filipino, Japanese, Korean, Vietnamese, or people from India or another Asian country)
  - <sup>4</sup>O Latino, Hispanic, Chicano, Mexican or Mexican-American, Central American, or other Latin American
  - <sup>5</sup>O White, Caucasian, or European (including people from Spain or the Middle East)
  - <sup>6</sup>O Some other group (Please tell us:
  - B. If you chose more than one group, please write in the name of the group you identify with the most:

I identify most with:

- <sup>x</sup>O I identify equally with all the groups I checked
- 56. A. In what country were you born?
  - <sup>1</sup>O United States → Skip to question 57
  - <sup>2</sup>O Other country (Which country:
  - B. In what year did you start living in the U.S.?

- 57. What language do you <u>usually</u> speak at home? If you speak more than one, please choose the one you use most often.
  - <sup>1</sup>O English
  - <sup>2</sup>O Spanish
  - <sup>3</sup>O English and Spanish equally
  - <sup>4</sup>O Asian language (Please tell us: \_\_\_\_\_)
  - <sup>5</sup>O Some other language (Please tell us: \_\_\_\_\_)
- 58. What is the highest grade or year of school you've completed?
  - <sup>1</sup>O I never went to school
  - <sup>2</sup>O 8th grade or less
  - <sup>3</sup>O Some high school, but I did not graduate
  - <sup>4</sup>O High school (or I got a GED)
  - <sup>5</sup>O Some college or junior college, but I did not graduate from a four-year college
  - <sup>6</sup>O College graduate (from a four-year college or university) or more
- 59. Thinking back to who you lived with when you were about 13 years old, what was the highest grade or year of school completed by your mother, father or main guardian? If you lived with more than one parent or guardian, please tell us about the one who had the most education.
  - <sup>1</sup>O Never went to school
  - <sup>2</sup>O 8th grade or less
  - <sup>3</sup>O Some high school, but did not graduate
  - <sup>\*</sup>O High school (or got a GED)
  - <sup>5</sup>O Some college or junior college, but did not graduate from a four-year college

<sup>6</sup>O College graduate (from a four-year college or university) or more

60. At the time your baby was born, what was your marital status?

- <sup>1</sup>O Married
- $^2 O$   $\,$  Living with someone like we were married, but not legally married
- <sup>3</sup>O Separated, divorced, or widowed
- <sup>4</sup>O Single (never married)
- 61. Here are some statements that people use to describe themselves. How strongly do you agree or disagree with how well the following statements describe you?

	Strongly			Strongly
	<u>Agree</u>	<u>Agree</u>	<u>Disagree</u>	<u>Disagree</u>
A. There is really no way I can solve some of the problems I hav	re <sup>1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> <b>O</b>	<sup>3</sup> O	⁴O
B. Sometimes I feel that I'm being pushed around in life	0	0	0	0
C. I have little control over the things that happen to me	0	0	0	0
D. I can do just about anything I really set my mind to do	0	0	0	0
E. I often feel helpless in dealing with the problems of life	0	0	о	0
F. What happens to me in the future mostly depends on me	0	0	о	0
G. There is little I can do to change many of				
the important things in my life	0	0	0	0

62. Below is a list of the ways you might have felt in the past week. Please tell us how often you have felt this way during the <u>past week</u>.

During the past week:	<u>Hardly ever</u>	Some of the time	Most of the time
A. I did not feel like eating; my appetite was poor	<sup>1</sup> O	<sup>2</sup> O	<sup>3</sup> O
B. I felt depressed	0	0	0
C. I felt that everything I did was an effort	0	0	0
D. My sleep was restless	0	0	0
E. I was happy	0	0	0
F. I felt lonely	0	0	0
G. People were unfriendly	0	0	0
H. I enjoyed life	0	0	0

I. I felt sadO	0	0
J. I felt that people disliked meO	0	0
K. I could not "get going"O	0	0

Now, we have just a few more questions. These are about food and money.

- 63. A. Were you on WIC at any time during your most recent pregnancy? (WIC is the Women, Infants and Children supplementary food program)
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - B. Have either you or your new baby been on WIC since he/she was born?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
    - <sup>2</sup>O No

Please read each statement below and tell us whether the statement was OFTEN, SOMETIMES, or NEVER true for you during your most recent pregnancy.

- 64. A. "The food that I bought just didn't last, and I didn't have money to get more." During your most recent pregnancy, was that often, sometimes, or never true for you?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Often true
  - <sup>2</sup>O Sometimes true
  - <sup>3</sup>O Never true
  - <sup>4</sup>O Don't know
  - B. "I couldn't afford to eat balanced meals." During your most recent pregnancy, was that often, sometimes, or never true for you?

- <sup>1</sup>O Often true
- <sup>2</sup>O Sometimes true
- <sup>3</sup>O Never true
- <sup>4</sup>O Don't know

- 65. A. During your pregnancy, did you ever cut the size of your meals or skip meals because there wasn't enough money for food?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No ---> Skip to question 66
  - <sup>3</sup>O Don't know Skip to question 66
  - B. How often did this happen?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Almost every month
    - <sup>2</sup>O Some months but not almost every month
    - <sup>3</sup>O 1 or 2 months
    - <sup>4</sup>O Don't know
- 66. A. During your pregnancy, did you ever eat less than you felt you should because there wasn't enough money to buy food?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
  - <sup>2</sup>O No
  - <sup>3</sup>O Don't know
  - B. During your pregnancy, were you ever hungry but didn't eat because you couldn't afford enough food?
    - <sup>1</sup>O Yes
    - <sup>2</sup>O No
    - <sup>3</sup>O Don't know

67. A. What was your total family income in 2004 before taxes? Please mark one box below that includes your total family income, including your income and the income of your husband or partner (if living with you in 2004) and your children.

> Please include income from all sources, including jobs, welfare, Disability, Unemployment, child support, interest, dividends, and support from family members.

## FOR THE YEAR 2004

<sup>1</sup> 0	\$0	to	\$12,000
<sup>2</sup> O	\$12,001	to	\$16,000
<sup>3</sup> O	\$16,001	to	\$19,000
<sup>4</sup> O	\$19,001	to	\$22,000
٥Č	\$22,001	to	\$25,000
٥	\$25,001	to	\$28,000
<sup>7</sup> O	\$28,001	to	\$31,000
<sup>8</sup> O	\$31,001	to	\$38,000
°o	\$38,001	to	\$44,000
<sup>10</sup> O	\$44,001	to	\$47,000
<sup>11</sup> 0	\$47,001	to	\$50,000
<sup>12</sup> O	\$50,001	to	\$57,000
<sup>13</sup> O	\$57,001	to	\$63,000
<sup>14</sup> O	\$63,001	to	\$66,000
<sup>15</sup> O	\$66,001	to	\$76,000
<sup>16</sup> O	\$76,001	to	\$85,000
<sup>17</sup> O	\$85,001	to	\$88,000
<sup>18</sup> O	\$88,001	to	\$101,000
<sup>19</sup> O	\$101,001	to	\$114,000

<sup>20</sup>O \$114,001 or more

B. If you can't choose one of the previous categories, please tell us your average monthly income in 2004 before taxes.

\$\_\_\_\_\_ per month

68. Thinking back to 2004 --before your new baby was born--how many people lived on this income?

\_\_\_\_\_ total number of people

- 69. In general, during your most recent pregnancy, how hard was it for you and your family to live on the income you had?
  - <sup>1</sup>O Very hard
  - <sup>2</sup>O Somewhat hard
  - <sup>3</sup>O Not too hard
  - <sup>⁴</sup>O Not hard at all
- 70. Overall, how would you describe the time during your pregnancy? Check the best answer.
  - <sup>1</sup>O One of the happiest times of my life
  - <sup>2</sup>O A happy time with few problems
  - <sup>3</sup>O A moderately hard time
  - <sup>⁴</sup>O A very hard time
  - <sup>5</sup>O One of the worst times of my life

Thank you for answering these questions. Your answers will help us to improve the health of mothers and babies.

Please go to the next page.

	Name:							
	Address:				Apt #			
		City		State	Zip code			
Only	check this box if yo	ou do <u>not</u> want to pa	rticipat	e in the raffle	for \$250.			
0	Please do <u>not</u> enter	me in the raffle for	\$250.					
72. We ł you'l surve	tope to do another su l receive a gift if you ey is completely up t	to do another survey when your baby is a year old. The next survey will be shorter and tive a gift if you decide to take part. As with this survey, whether you take part in the next completely up to you.						
A. I. n	f we do another surv ow, you can change	to another survey a few months from now, may we contact you? (Even if you say yes you can change your mind and decide not to take part later on.)						
	<sup>1</sup> O Yes		<sup>2</sup> O	N CI				
			U	no Sk on	next page			
1	he information belo	ow is only to contac	t you fo	NO SK ON	next page urvey.			
<b>7</b> B. V	The information belows the second sec	ow is only to contac home phone numbe	t you fo 1?	no sk on	next page			
<b>1</b> B. V	The information belows the second sec	ow is only to contac	t you fo 1?	NO SK ON	next page			
и В. V С. V	The information below What is your current () What is your current	ow is only to contact home phone numbe	r?	NO SK ON	next page			

I

son #1:		
Name:		
Address:		Apt #
City	State	Zip code
Phone number: ()		_
How is this person related to you?		
son #2:		_
Name:		
Address:		Apt #
City	State	Zip code
Phone number: ()		

73. If there is anything else you want to tell us about the health of mothers and babies in California, or about this survey, please write it here.

## Thank you very much for your help

Now please mail this survey back to us in the enclosed envelope. You don't need stamps. Appendix B: Table B-1. Demographic and behavioral characteristics of women with recent births compared by level of household food security: HFS (n=2652), MFS (n=347), LFS (n=456), and VLFS (n=178), California MIHA 2005

(Pearson Chi-sq analysis with significant differences highlighted)							<u> </u>					
			HF	- F000 S	ecurity M	FS	LI	-5 Food In	Security VL	.FS		
		Total, weighted r	n^	weighted%	n^	weighted%	n^	weighted%	n^	weighted%		
		3634	2652	73.0%	347	9.5%	456	12.5%	178	4.9%	100%	
Birth Weigh	nt category (g) <sup>B</sup>	IC	DEWIOGRAPHIC	S (Catigorical va	ariables)						p-value	
	<2500	232 (6.4%)	157	67.7%	25	10.9%	32	13.8%	18	7.6%	100%	
	2500-2999	534 (14.7%)	381	71.3%	53	9.9%	70	13.1%	30	5.7%	100%	
	3000-3499	1370 (37.7%)	1000	73.0%	136	10.0%	163	11.9%	70	5.1%	100%	
	3500-3999	346 (9.5%)	843	78.2%	107	9.3%	151	13.1%	50	4.4%	100%	0.37
	Total. n	3633 (100%)	2652	70.270	347	7.470	456	11.570	178	2.770	10078	0.37
Maternal Ra	ace-ethnicity MHA											
	African											
	American	174 (4.8%)	121	70.0%	18	10.4%	22	12.5%	12	7.1%	100%	
	American	18 (0.5%)	11	60.3%	1	1 3%	1	10.5%	3	15.6%	100%	
	API	363 (10.1%)	308	84.9%	26	7.0%	23	6.3%	6	1.8%	100%	
	European	,							-			
	American	1160 (32.3%)	993	85.6%	76	6.5%	67	5.8%	24	2.1%	100%	
	Latina	1793 (50%)	1143	63.8%	209	11.6%	313	17.5%	128	7.2%	100%	
	Other	89 (2.5%)	58	65.5%	14	15.5%	13	15.2%	3	3.8%	100%	<.001
Prenregnan	rotal, n	3596 (100%)	2034		344		442		176			-
ricprognan	Underweigh											
	t (<19.8)	376 (11.5%)	293	78.0%	37	9.7%	30	8.0%	16	4.2%	100%	
	Normal											
	(19.8-26.0)	1836(56.2%)	1420	77.4%	165	9.0%	184	10.0%	66	3.6%	100%	
	(26.1-29.0)	406 (12 4%)	208	73 3%	36	8.8%	53	13.1%	20	4 0%	100%	
	(20.1-27.0) Obese	400 (12.4%)	270	13.370	30	0.0%		13.1%	20	4.770	100%	
	(>29.0)	649 (19.9%)	421	64.9%	70	10.8%	109	16.8%	49	7.6%	100%	<.001
	Total, n	3267 (100%)	2432		308		376		151			
Education M	IHA											
	<8 <sup>m</sup>	272 (7.6%)	176	64.5%	18	6.7%	58	21.4%	20	7.4%	100%	
	some nign	452 (12 40/)	224	ED 20/	70	15 50/	105	22.20/	41	0.20/	100%	
	High school	452 (12.0%)	230	52.270	/0	15.5%	105	23.270	41	7.370	100 %	
	or equiv.	1018 (28.3%)	659	64.7%	124	12.2%	176	17.3%	59	5.9%	100%	
	Some											
	college	949 (26.4%)	722	76.1%	91	9.6%	92	9.7%	44	4.6%	100%	
	Collogo Crad	007(25.2%)	040	02.9%	42	4.0%	17	1.0%	7	0.9%	100%	< 001
	Total, n	3598(100%)	2635	72.070	345	4.770	448	1.770	171	0.876	100 %	<.001
Gestational	age <36 weeks	ac			0.10							
	No	3133(86.2%)	2307	73.6%	296	9.4%	384	12.3%	146	4.7%	100%	
(preterm)	Yes	501(13.8%)	346	69.1%	51	10.2%	72	20.8%	32	6.4%	100%	0.13
	lotal, n	3634(100%)	2653	TIONE	347		456		178			
Smoked in 3	3rd Trimester <sup>MH/</sup>		HEALTH CONDI	TIONS	1		1				1	
	No	3420(96.1%)	2531	74.0%	316	9.2%	416	12.2%	157	4.6%	100%	
	Yes	139 (3.9%)	74	53.2%	25	18.0%	26	18.7%	14	10.1%	100%	<.001
	Total, n	3559 (100%)	2605		341		442		171			
Previous LB	W birth	2422 (04 5%)	2510	72 60/	220	0.4%	410	12.20/	150	1 4 9/	100%	
	Yes	200 (5.5)	127	63.3%	19	9.7%	34	16.9%	20	10.1%	100%	0.018
	Total, n	3623	2645		347		453		178			
High blood	presure during	preg. <sup>MHA</sup>										
	No	3197 (89.2%)	2365	74.0%	299	9.4%	384	12.0%	149	4.7%	100%	
	Yes Total n	387 (10.8%)	260	67.2%	44	11.3%	60	15.4%	24	6.1%	100%	0.088
High blood	sugar during pr	eq. <sup>MHA</sup>	2023		545		444		175			
(Diabetes)	No	3261 (90.8%)	2399	73.6%	313	9.6%	391	12.0%	158	4.9%	100%	1
	Yes	332 (9.3%)	234	70.3%	30	9.0%	50	15.2%	19	5.6%	100%	0.468
E l l	Total, n	3594 (100%)	2633		343		441		177			
reel depres	No	2597 (72 10/ \	2050	70 30/	222	9 40/	247	0.5%	67	2 60/	100%	
	Yes	1015 (28.1%)	579	57.1%	124	12.2%	203	20.0%	109	10.7%	100%	<.001
	Total, n	3611 (100%)	2637		347		450		176			
Living w/sc	omeone/married	d during preg. <sup>MHA</sup>										
	No	524 (14.5%)	303	57.7%	67	12.8%	108	20.7%	47	8.9%	100%	0.5
	Yes Tatal a	3078 (85.5%)	2326	/5.6%	2/8	9.0%	342	11.1%	132	4.3%	100%	<.001
	Total, II	PREGANCY INTEN	TION		345		430		179			
WIC enrolln	ment during pre	g. MIHA										
	No	1654 (45.8%	1505	91.0%	73	4.4%	54	3.3%	22	1.4%	100%	
	Yes	1958 (54.2%)	1126	57.5%	275	14.0%	401	20.5%	156	8.0%	100%	<.001
	iotai, n	3012 (100%)	2631		348		455		178		I	
(Oneway Al	NOVA analysis v	vith significant di	fferences high	nlighted)								1
												1
			HF	s	M	FS	LI	-s	VL	.FS		1
1			D A		D A		D A		D A		n value	1
		DEMOGRAPHIC	S (Continoue vor	riables)	112	means ± SD	112	means ± so	11.5	means ± so	p-value	1
Maternal Ac	re (vears) <sup>BC</sup>	DEMOGRAPHIC		100103/							< .001	
	Total, n	3634	2653	28.8 ± 6.2	347	25.5 ± 6.2	456	25.8 ± 5.6	178	28.8 ± 6.2		
Total numb	er of live births	(parity) <sup>BC</sup>		2.0 ± 1.1		2.1 ± 1.4		2.2 <u>+</u> 1.2		2.5 ± 1.5	<.001	
	Total, n	3633	2652		347		456		178			L

\* Shaded p-values are significant at the .05 level. Total number of HFS is <2652, MFS is <347, LFS is <456, and VLFS is <179 due to missing data and rounding numbers may not add to 100%. BC Birth certificate data. MIHA MIHA data. n^ weighted number of respondents excluding missing and those who did not know or respond. BMI\* Calculated BMI from MIHA data based on IOM prepregnancy BMI categories. WIC\*\* Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children.

rearson (	-m-sq analysis	s with significant d	merences S	Snaded)	E oo d	Insocure	1	
		Total waterbard	F000	u Secure	Food	msecure	ł	
		Total, weighted h	2000	82.5%	635	17 5%	100%	
		5054	2333		HICS (Catio	orical variable	00//	n-value
Birth Weig	ht category (g	BC		DEMOGRAP			s)	
	<2500	232 (6.4%)	182	78.4%	50	21.6%	100%	
	2500-2000	534 (14 7%)	134	81.3%	100	18.7%	100%	
	2000-2333	1271 (27 79/)	1127	01.5%	224	17.1%	100%	
	2500 2000	1152 (31.7%)	051	02.9%	234	17.1%	100%	
	. 4000	1152 (31.7%)	951	02.0%	201	17.4%	100%	0.00
	<u>&gt;4000</u>	346 (9.5%)	290	65.5%	50	14.5%	100%	0.23
Matanal	Total, n	3635 (100%)	3000		635		1	
Maternal F	ace-ethnicity							
	African							
	American	173 (4.8%)	139	80.3%	34	19.7%	100%	
	American							
	Indian	18 (0.5%)	12	66.7%	6	33.3%	100%	
	API	363 (10.1%)	334	92.0%	29	8.0%	100%	
	European							
	American	1160 (32.3%)	1069	92.2%	91	7.8%	100%	
	Latina	1793 (50%)	1352	75.4%	441	24.6%	100%	
	Other	89 (2.5%)	72	80.9%	17	19.1%	100%	<.001
	Total. n	3596 (100%)	2978		618			
Prepregna	ncv BMI ka/m <sup>2</sup>	2						
	Underweight							
	(<19.8)	376 (11 5%)	330	87.8%	46	12 2%	100%	
	Normal (19 8-	510 (11.5%)	330	07.0%		12.270	100%	
	26.0)	1826/66 20/1	4 5 0 5	06 20/	254	43 70/	100%	
	20.0)	1030(30.2%)	1565	00.3%	251	13.1%	100%	
	(ac 4 co c)	407 (40 50)		00.40		17.00	1000	
	(20.1-29.0)	407 (12.5%)	334	82.1%	73	17.9%	100%	
	Upese	o 40 - 410 - 511	<u></u> .		·			
	(>29.0)	649 (19.9%)	491	75.7%	158	24.3%	100%	<.001
E dura di	iotal, n	3268 (100%)	2740		528			
Education	oth	0-0 (- 0	<u></u> .					
	<8 <sup>m</sup>	272 (7.6%)	194	71.3%	78	28.7%	100%	
	Some high							
	school	452 (12.6%)	306	67.7%	146	32.3%	100%	
	High school							
	or equiv.	1017 (28.2%)	782	76.9%	235	23.1%	100%	
	Some							
	college	948 (26.2%)	813	85.8%	135	14.2%	100%	
	College	. ,						
	Grad	907(25.1%)	883	97.4%	24	2.6%	100%	<.001
	Total n	3598(100%)	2978		618	,		
Gestationa	l age <36 wee	ks <sup>BC</sup>						
Contailoni	No	3133(86.2%)	2603	83 1%	530	16.0%	100%	
(protorm)	Voe	502(13.8%)	2003	70 1%	105	20.0%	100%	0.018
(preterin)	Total n	2625(10.0%)	2000	73.170	625	20.3%	100%	0.010
	Total, II	KNOWI	EDGE and					
Smaked in	2rd Trimosto	MIHA				I		
Sillokeu li	No	2420/06 19/)	2047	02.20/	E72	16 00/	100%	
	NO X	3420(90.1%)	2047	03.2%	5/3	10.0%	100%	004
	Tes	136 (3.9%)	90	/1.0%	40	29.0%	100%	<.001
Description 1	Diata n	3558 (100%)	2945		013			
Previous L								
	NO	3424 (94.5%)	2846	83.1%	578	16.9%	100%	
	Yes	200 (5.5)	146	73.0%	54	27.0%	100%	<.001
	Total, n	3623	2992		632			
High blood	I presure durir	ig preg. <sup>MIHA</sup>						
	No	3197 (89.2%)	2664	83.3%	533	16.7%	100%	
	Yes	387 (10.8%)	304	78.6%	83	21.4%	100%	0.013
	Total, n	3584 (100%)	2968		616			
High blood	l sugar during	preg. <sup>MIHA</sup>						
(Diabetes)	No	3261 (90.8%)	2712	83.2%	549	16.8%	100%	
· ·	Yes	332 (9.3%)	263	79.2%	69	20.8%	100%	0.043
	Total, n	3594 (100%)	2975		618			
Feel depre	ssed during p	oreg. <sup>MIHA</sup>						
	No	2597 (72.1%)	2281	87.9%	314	12.1%	100%	
	Yes	1015 (28.1%)	703	69.3%	313	30.7%	100%	<.001
	Total, n	3611 (100%)	2984		627			
Living w/s	omeone/marrie	ed during preg. MIHA						
,	No	524 (14.5%)	369	70.4%	155	29.6%	100%	
	Yes	3078 (85.5%)	2604	84.6%	474	15.4%	100%	<.001
	Total. n	3602 (100%)	2973		629			
		PREGA	NCY INTEN	TION			-	
WIC enroll	ment during p	reg. <sup>MIHA</sup>						
	No	1654 (45.8%	1578	95.4%	76	4.6%	100%	
	Yes	1958 (54.2%)	1401	71.6%	557	28.4%	100%	<.001
	Total, n	3612 (100%)	2979		633		,	
	,			•			•	
(Oneway 4	NOVA analysi	is with significant of	lifferences	highlighted)				
	analys			2				
			Food	Secure	Food	Insecure		
					1000			
			n^	means + SD	n^	means + SD	p-value	
		DEMO	GRADUICO	Continent	orighter)	<u>+</u> 00		1
		DEMO	GRAPHICS	o (Continous v	ariapies)			
Maternal A	lge (years) <sup>вс</sup>						<.001	
	Total, n	3634	3000	27.2 <u>+</u> 6.2	634	26.4 <u>+</u> 5.9		
Total num	per of live birth	ns (parity) <sup>BC</sup>		2.1 <u>+</u> 1.3		2.4 <u>+</u> 1.4	<.001	
	Total. n	3633	2999	1	634			1

Appendix B: Table B-2. Demographic and behavior characteristics of women with recent births compared by food security status: Food Secure (n=2999), Food Insecure (n=634), California MIHA 2005

\*Shaded p-values are significant at the .05 level. Total number of food secure is <2999, and food insecure is <635, due to missing data and rounding, numbers may not add to 100%. BC Birth certificate data. MIHA MIHA data, n^ weighted number of respondents excluding missing and those who did not know or respond. BMI\* Calculated BMI from MIHA data based on IOM prepregnancy BMI categories. WIC\*\* Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children.

by select		ensues or	wonnen with recen	t biruis, C	amorna wintA,20	Ionna Mina,2003		
Characteristic		LBW weighted	LBW (<2500g) OR weighted (95% CI)	HBW weighted	HBW (>=4000g) OR weighted (95% CI)	Normal birth weight (2500-		
		n (%)	p<=0.05 highlighted	n (%)	p<=0.05 highlighted	3999g)	Total n	
	Total, n 3634	(232) 6.4%		(347) 9.5%		3055 (84.07%)	3634	
	Demographics	1			1		1	
Food Security	Status: Catagorical	157 (5.00())		071 (10 00()		00.000/	1000/	
	High Food Security	157 (5.9%)	referent	2/1 (10.2%)		83.90%	100%	
	Marginal Food Security	25 (7.2%)	1.24 (.79-1.95)	26 (7.5%)	0.71 (0.45-1.1)	85.30%	100%	
	Low Food Security	32 (7.0%)	1.20 (0.80-1.82)	40 (8.8%)	0.84 (0.58-1.22)	84.20%	100%	
<b>F</b>	Very Low Food Security	18 (10.1%)	1.75 (1.0-3.06)	10 (0.6%)	0.53 (0.26-1.05)	89.40%	100%	
Food Security	Status: Binary	100 (( 10()				04.0000	1000/	
	Food Secure	182 (6.1%)		297 (9.9%)		84.00%	100%	
Matawal Da	FOOD I INSECURE	50 (7.9%)	1.32 (0.93-1.86)	50 (7.9%)	0.78 (0.55-1.08)	84.40%	100%	
iviaternai ka		01 (10 10()	0.50 (1.(7.0.00)	10 (5 70()		00.000/	1000/	
	American American	21(12.1%)	2.50(1.67-3.83)	10 (5.7%)	0.48(0.30-0.76)	82.20%	100%	
	American Indian	4 (22.2.%)	5.40 (1.68-17.40)	2(11.1%)	1.12 (0.31-4.69)	00.70%	100%	
	API	27 (7.4%)	1.51 (0.92-2.48)	20 (1.2%)	0.60 (0.38-0.94)	85.40%	100%	
	Lating	00 (5.2%)		135 (11.6%)		83.20%	100%	
	Latina	110 (0.1%)	1. 20 (0.85-1.69)	160 (8.9%)		85.00%	100%	
Decessor		7 (7.9%)	1.65 (0.74-3.71)	9 (10.1%)	0.83 (0.40-1.75)	82%	100%	
Prepregnanc	Underweight ( 10.0)	25 (0.20()		12 (2.20()	0.04 (0.10.0 (0)	07.50%	100%	
	Underweight (<19.8)	35 (9.3%)	1.55 (1.02-2.34)	12 (3.2%)	0.34 (0.19-0.62)	87.50%	100%	
	Normal (19.8-26.0)	115 (6.3%)		167 (9.1%)		84.60%	100%	
	Overweight (26.1-29.0)	17 (4.2%)	0.67 (0.41-1.10)	43 (10.6%)	1.21 (0.83-1.74)	85.20%	100%	
E de canto en Mil	Obese (>29.0)	42 (6.5%)	1.02 (0.70-1.49)	98 (15.1%)	1.78 (1.34-2.34)	/8.40%	100%	
Education	oth	10 (4 40())		00 (0 50()	1 01 (0 (0 1 (0)	07.100/	1000/	
	<8 <sup></sup>	12 (4.4%)	0.69 (0.33- 1.34)	23 (8.5%)	1.01(0.60-1.68)	87.10%	100%	
	Some nign school	37 (8.2%)	1.25 (0.80-1.96)	37 (8.2%)	0.95 (0.62-1.56)	83.60%	100%	
	High school or equiv.	67 (6.6%)		87 (8.5%)		84.90%	100%	
	Some college	59 (6.2%)	0.94 (0.65-1.37)	96 (10.1%)	1.20 (0.87-1.65)	83.70%	100%	
Contational		55 (6.1%)	0.91 (0.62-1.32)		1.34 (0.98-1.84)	82.80%	100%	
Gestational	age <u>&lt;</u> 36 weeks		nofonomt	222 (10.20()	noformat	0( 70%	1000/	
(masterna)	NO	95 (3.0%)		322 (10.3%)		60.70%	100%	
(preterm)	KNOWI EDGE	137 (27.3%)	12.00 (0.97-10.19)	24 (4.0%)	0.45 (0.29-0.71)	67.90%	100%	
Smokod in 2	Red Trimostor <sup>MHA</sup>							
I SITIOREU IT S	No	200 (6 1%)	roforont	221 (0 70/)	roforont	04 20%	100%	
	Ves	17 (12 2%)	2.23(1.22-3.76)	7 (5 0%)	0 50 (0 22-1 15)	82.80%	100%	
Previous I B	W birtb <sup>MIHA</sup>	17 (12.270)	2.20 (1.02-0.70)	7 (3.070)	0.30 (0.22-1.13)	- 02.0070	10070	
I TOVIOUS ED	No	179 (5.2%)	referent	336 (9.8%)	referent	85.00%	100%	
	Yes	53 (26 5%)	6 64 (4 63-9 51)	9 (4 5%)	0.38(0.17-0.81)	69.00%	100%	
High blood r	pressure during preg MIHA	00 (20.070)		7 (1.070)	0.00 (0.17 0.01)	- 07.0070	10070	
	No	174 (5.4%)	referent	297 (9.3%)	referent	85.30%	100%	
	Yes	57 (14 7%)	3 04 (2 18-4 24)	44 (11 4%)	1 243 (0 86-1 76)	73.90%	100%	
High blood s	sugar during preg MIHA	07 (11.770)	0.01 (2.10 1.21)	11 (11.170)	1.210 (0.00 1.70)		10070	
(Diabetes)	No	202 (8 4%)	referent	307 (12.8%)	referent	78 80%	100%	
()	Yes	27 (8.1%)	1.33 (.085-2.08)	33 (9.9%)	1.09 (0.74-1.61)	82.00%	100%	
Feel depress	sed during preg. <sup>MHA</sup>		(			-		
	No	152 (5.9%)	referent	268 (10.3%)	referent	83.80%	100%	
	Yes	79 (7.8%)	1.32 (0.99-1.78)	77 (7.6%)	0.72 (0.55-0.96)	84.60%	100%	
Livina w/so	meone/married during prea	MIHA						
5	No	43 (8.2%)	referent	31 (5.9%)	referent	85.90%	100%	
	Yes	188 (6.1%)	1.41 (0.99-2.01)	314 (10.2%)	0.56 (0.37-0.83)	83.70%	100%	
	PREGNANCY	INTENTION						
WIC enrollm	nent during preg. <sup>MIHA</sup>							
	No	96 (5.8%)	referent	190 (11.5%)	referent	82.70%	100%	
	Yes	135 (6.9%)	1.21 (0.91-1.60)	154 (7.9%)	0.66 (0.52-0.83)	85.20%	100%	
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,						
		LBW	LBW (<2500g)	HBW	HBW (>=4000g)			
Characteristic		means <u>+</u> SD	OR weighted (95% CI)	means <u>+</u> SD	OR weighted (95% CI)			
			p<=0.05 highlighted		p<=0.05 highlighted			
	DEMOGRA	PHICS (Continue	ous variables)					
Maternal Ag	e (years) <sup>BC</sup>	27.9 + 6.2	1.02 (0.99-1.05)	28.6 <b>+ 6.1</b>	1.02 (1.00-1.04)			
Total numbe	er of live births (parity) <sup>BC</sup>	2.1 + 1.4	1.01 (0.89-1.15)	2.22 + 1.3	1.11 (1.02-1.22)			

Appendix B: Table B-3. Univariate logistic regression, comparing OR of LBW (n=232) to HBW (n=347) by selected maternal characteristics of women with recent births, California MIHA,2005

\*The shaded p-values are significant at the .05 level. Total number of LBW is <232, and HBW<347due to missing data and rounding numbers may not add to 100%. BC Birth certificate data. MIHA MIHA data, n<sup>^</sup> weighted number of respondents excluding missing and those who did not know or respond. BMI\* Calculated BMI from MIHA data based on IOM prepregnancy BMI categories. WIC\*\* Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants and Children.